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>>Committee commenced at 9:01

Chairman (Mr. Main)(interpretation): Good
morning. We’re now back. Ms. Towtongie,
can you say the opening prayer, please.
Thank you.

>>Prayer

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Ms.
Towtongie. Following our agenda, we will
continue where we left off yesterday. We are
the Standing Committee on Government
Operations and Public Accounts and today
we’re reviewing the Auditor General of
Canada’s report. We have guests from the
Department of Education, Nunavut Arctic
College, and the Department of Family
Services. | usually forget the Inuktitut term
for Family Services for some reason.

We will resume our meeting from yesterday.
We are dealing with the report regarding high
school students, (interpretation ends) pages 5
to 15. (interpretation) We are dealing with
that this morning. For your information, we
will continue and we will be using the same
procedure as yesterday. Members, please
remember that when you are referring to
documents to indicate the page and clearly
indicate who you are directing your question
to, and if you have cellphones or other
electronic devices, please put them on silent
mode. Thank you. Are there any questions?
Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Good morning. | would like to pick up where
| left off yesterday on paragraph 28, which
highlights the number of high school students
who had dropped out between grades 10, 11,
and 12. | was quite shocked that the Auditor
General findings identified that there was a
total of over 1,200 students who dropped out
between those three grades, between three
academic years. | was quite astonished
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because we all know that high school
dropouts are high in the territory, but figures
have never been made public.

My first question is for the Department of
Education and it’s whether or not the
Department of Education had been able to
confirm the accuracy of the dropout rates
presented in the Auditor General’s findings.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.
(interpretation ends) Good morning, Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Yes, those are the statistics that
were provided to the Auditor General.
(interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My next question for the Department of
Education is: is this data easy to track and
monitor and, if so, and my supplementary
question is: how long has the Department of
Education been tracking the actual rates of
dropouts in our territory? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. The collection of data is quite an
involved process. We have recently hired an
individual who has that expertise so that in
the future it will be more accessible and
easier to provide and accumulate.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.
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Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
From the Auditor General’s response about
how those figures were identified, it seemed
to me that there was quite an easy process of
just comparing enrolments of students from
one year to the next, so just comparing, for
example, student numbers to identify the
actual amount of students who had not
returned. With that being said, | would like to
ask again: how long has the Department of
Education been tracking the true number of
dropouts in our territory? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. We will have to look into that
information and provide it back.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you for
committing to provide the additional
information. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Just to follow up on this crucial bit of
information, the dropout rates in our
territory, I do believe that they’re just as
important as vital statistics and as | see
graduation rates, including dropout rates, a
measure of our success of our society, and
given that these numbers have never been
publicly shared or voluntarily made public, |
feel that that is a move on the government’s
behalf to, for the lack of a better, be less
transparent.

For instance, every new government touts
that they will be more accountable and more
transparent, but this is an example where
departments or the government itself is not
voluntarily sharing information because it
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might be presumed or perceived as negative.
| really encourage the Department of
Education and the Government of Nunavut
as a whole to start being more open and
publicly sharing all information, whether or
not it represents the government in a positive
or negative light.

| do believe that sharing all information,
including negative statistics, is essential in
addressing the concerns. 1 would like to
request that the department voluntarily share
with the Committee the actual numbers of
dropout rates as far back as it’s able to track.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Ms. MacMillan had
committed to provide some additional
numbers. | guess the request is for more
specific numbers. Could you maybe clarify
your request, Mr. Lightstone?

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Yes, it is true that the Department of
Education had committed to providing
dropout rates or statistics in future annual
reports, but | would also like to request that
that information be shared with the Standing
Committee going as far back as possible.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Absolutely we will look into that.
The Department of Education is always
looking to improve the quality of data that is
collected from our schools and to support
that, again, we are providing in-service for
our schools, for department staff to ensure,
moving forward in the future, that those
numbers are accessible. Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) The information that
you provide in your annual reports is quite
impressive. I’'m looking at the 2016-17
annual report and you have graduates,
attendance rates, headcounts, graduates
broken down by characteristic, broken down
by age group, male and female, and so as
Committee Members, we really do appreciate
all this information. It helps us to do our
jobs. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
would like to move on to my next line of
questioning and it’s with regard to
recommendation No. 31 and developing and
implementing a strategy to improve teacher
recruitment and retention. The Department of
Education’s response was that in the current
fiscal year the Department of Education will
develop a ten-year strategic plan. | would
like to ask when the department projects that
this strategic plan will be completed and
whether or not the department will be able to
share a draft with the Standing Committee in
advance of that date. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Yes, so the Department of
Education is in the process of going through
the process to complete a ten-year strategic
plan. It’s our intention to hold consultations
and invite our stakeholders, such as Culture
and Heritage, Nunavut Arctic College, NTI,
regional Inuit associations, parents, students,
education staff, to be a part of this process
and also take part throughout the engagement
activities. It’s our intention to have the draft
completed by the end of this academic year.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
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Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for that response. My next
question is whether that strategic plan will be
developed internally or if the department will
be using a consultant to do the work. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) It’s being done through
a consultant. A tender came out earlier this
year. Sorry to cut you off there, but Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’'m curious why the Department of
Education had chosen to put out a tender or
an RFP to seek an external consultant to
conduct this strategy on internal recruitment
and retention as opposed to benefiting from
the department’s own internal expertise in
this area. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. The department, we are engaging
in a ten-year strategic plan which is separate
from the ten-year recruitment and retention
plan. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) | believe Mr.
Lightstone’s question was: how was the
decision made to go with a contractor for this
strategic plan as opposed to using your own
staff? Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. It’s always beneficial to have an
external facilitator when you are working
with a number of stakeholders as well as due
to capacity. We really want to move forward
and ensure that this is completed.
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Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’ll move on to my next question and it’s
with regard to paragraph 32 and “The
Department of Education should take steps to
improve the quality of attendance data.” The
Department of Education’s opening
comments on page 11, the department
mentions a training video that “allows the
Student Information System team to provide
directed, specific and targeted video training
sessions for staff, including principals, vice-
principals, secretaries, and teachers...”

| would first like to start off by commending
the Department of Education for their
ingenuity in this area. | do believe that the
government in total relies too heavily on
manuals and documents, manuals which
document the process of many procedures
where | believe that going in this direction in
creating short training videos really needs to
be... . I really encourage other departments
to follow this lead as similar training videos
should be developed for all data entry
positions. As the Department of Education
has identified, it’s important to meet the
needs of all learning types, including visual
learners. 1 do commend the Department of
Education on that.

My question is whether or not these recently
completed training videos were provided at
the recent or current principals’ and vice-
principals’ training sessions. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. The focus for the principals’
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conference this week was safe and caring
schools. The videos are not being highlighted
this week and the reason for that is it’s our
intention, and this has already occurred, to
provide one-on-one, small group instruction
with administrators, secretaries, and teachers
when they’re actually sitting in front of their
computer as this GoToTraining allows for
that immediacy and the visuals of what’s
actually on the screen. In addition to that, it
can be delivered anywhere. Qujannamiik,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
will move on to my next question and it’s in
relation to paragraph 34 where the Auditor
General’s findings identified extremely high
vacancy rates, for example, 82 percent in the
Educator Development Division as well as
57 percent in the Curriculum Development
Division. I would like to ask if the
Department of Education would be able to
provide us an update or provide us with the
current staffing levels in these two particular
divisions. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. For educator development, there
are 4 positions filled and 18 vacant, and one
of those individuals had retired, but we were
able to fill that, so that is why the numbers
remain the same. For the curriculum division,
10 positions are filled and 11 vacant. There
were hires that occurred over the summer.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
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thank the department for providing those
updated figures, although | would just like to
point out that this audit was completed some
time ago, over a year ago, and these crucial
divisions still have significant vacancy rates.
I would like to ask how the department
intends on filling these vacant positions and
when. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. For staffing the vacant positions,
it continues to move forward, so it’s ongoing
and posted on the GN websites as they
become available and housing is available for
the positions. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
take that as hopefully someday soon, as the
response, and | really hope and wish the
department best of luck in filling those
positions as I do believe that they’re very
crucial to the success of our students.

I would like to move on to my next question.
In paragraph 38, which the OAG
recommends the Department of Education
“develop and carry out a strategy to recruit
and retain” school staff, and the last sentence
in that recommendation is that the
department should also “periodically assess
the effectiveness of its strategy and take
corrective action as required.” Now, I do
recognize that the department had provided a
response that it is developing the ten-year
teacher recruitment and retention strategy.
However, the department failed to
acknowledge that last sentence regarding
periodic assessments and corrective action.

I would like to ask if the Department of
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Education will commit that it will follow
through with these periodic assessments as
well as set a timeline as to when these
assessments will be done, and commit to
sharing with the public evidence that the
reviews are being taken as well as corrective
actions associated. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Ongoing monitoring will be a key
part of the plan and as we have engaged in
new strategies this year, we are beginning to
track that data. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’ll move on to my next question and it’s
relation to paragraph 39 and the department’s
response. In the last sentence the department
indicates that the Department of Education
“supports Take Your Kids to Work Day.”
That’s another area where I would like to
commend the department’s ingenuity
because this is the first that | have ever heard
of Take Your Kid to Work Day within the
Government of Nunavut. | would like to ask:
when exactly did the department officially
support Take Your Kids to Work Day?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. It has been a couple of years, but
as for the specific number, we would have to
get back to you with that information.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
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(interpretation ends) | wish today was Take
Your Kids to Work Day because I’'m missing
my boys right now. Travelling MLAs, right?
Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
like to give credit where credit is due, and |
really do support the Department of
Education in taking up this initiative in Take
Your Kid to Work Day. Given that the
Government of Nunavut is the largest
employer in the territory and it’s most likely
that our future graduates and future
generations will most likely become
employed in the public service, I think it’s
crucial that all government departments also
support this initiative and allow parents to
bring their kids to work and allow them to
have first-hand experience in an office
environment and sort of hopefully encourage
them to plan their own future success. It’s
just a comment.

I would like to move on to my next question.
In paragraph 40, student assessment, the
Auditor General “found that the Department
of Education did not have finalized policies
and guidelines to help teachers assess student
achievement in the classroom.” As a result,
the Department of Education “did not have
assurance that students were being assessed
consistently across schools or that classroom
marks were reliable.” At the time of the
audit, “the Department had a draft
assessment, evaluation, and reporting
framework and related policy for
Kindergarten to Grade 12 students.” I would
like to ask: how old is this draft? When did
the department begin working on it? Why
has it not come to completion? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) It was mentioned
yesterday it goes back to 2013 Auditor
General’s office report. Ms. MacMillan.
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Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. The framework, policy, and
handbook will be ready for implementation
in the 2020-21 school year. That takes into
account that we are able to complete the
documents, have it translated, and in-service
our teachers so that they are familiar and
receive in-service to deliver and work
confidently and competently with the
assessment document. Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Mr. Lightstone, I have a
number of names on my list. I’ll give you
one more question. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
would like to go back to paragraph 35 where
the OAG findings that indicate that of course
staff housing is an issue, but teachers and
other staff are not being a first priority when
allocated housing and also indicated that
there’s a “need for teachers to share
accommodations...” When I brought this up
with the Nunavut Housing Corporation, they
stated that teachers sharing accommodations
were optional and were not necessarily
enforced upon them. I would just like to seek
clarification on that specific wording,
whether or not teachers are forced to share
accommodations in staff housing or whether
it is in fact optional. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. We continue to work with our
stakeholders and partners such as Housing.
What | can state is all the job advertisements
for teachers, it states on the advertisement
that sharing may be required and once the
application is submitted, of course the
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sharing is dependent on the candidate, the
family situation, number of members in the
relocation, so that is dependent on the
housing allocation. Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Moving on, Ms.
Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Good morning. My first
question is regarding paragraph 16, which
states that (interpretation ends) “We found
that the Department of Education was not
doing enough to prepare students
academically for post-secondary education or
employment.” Reading the report, I noticed
that there wasn’t a lot of mention in terms of
what career development officers can do to
assist youth in high school or youth to get
into post-secondary education.

| would like to ask the Department of Family
Services: would you have records as to how
many visits are done to schools by career
development officers in the communities?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Family Services, Ms. Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) | would like
my director of career development to answer
that.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Just a reminder: we
have this new system in front of us. You
don’t have to push any buttons right now; we
have a switcher and that goes for everybody
in the room. Mr. Clift.

Mr. Clift: Ma 'na, Mr. Chairman. We don’t
have specific records as to the visits made by
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our career development officers to high
schools at hand. I will certainly get that
information and provide it. I will let the
Member know and the Committee know that
this year we have stepped up our efforts to
get the career development officers out to
high schools in career fairs and trade shows
and have provided new specific budgetary
allocations so they can do so. Ma 'na, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you as
well. Ms. Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) I’'m very
curious too as to what the records will be
because, as it’s stated, there’s not a lot of
support within education because of also
teachers’ schedules and times they could to
plan with students in terms of planning for
further education. It would be very
interesting to see those numbers.

I’ll move on to the next one and paragraph
31, recommendations also made to Education
to “develop and implement a strategy that
specifies the actions that it and other partners
will...help students graduate from high
school and transition...” In the response
Education provided, “...the Department
staffed a new position, within the Advanced
Education Division.” My question to the
Department of Education is: where is this
position and is it expanding to more than one
staff or how many staff are in that division?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. The position has been staffed and
it resides in the Advanced Education
Division and there is one position at this
time. (interpretation) Thank you.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Is the employee located here
in lgaluit or where is it located? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Yes, the position is located in
Igaluit. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Earlier in our meeting |
discussed the issue of regional offices in
communities, including Pangnirtung, which
is a decentralized community, and there are a
lot of vacant positions at the office there. My
first question is: do you look at the
communities outside of Igaluit? Maybe those
positions can be staffed outside of Igaluit.
Has that been considered by the Department
of Education. Why wasn’t the position
located outside of Igaluit? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. There are various offices
throughout Nunavut, and in Pangnirtung
there is the registrar’s office and student
assessment, so we do have Education staff
located there. However, the advanced
Education resides here in Igaluit, and that is
the division it fell under, therefore the
position was filled here in Igaluit.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Nakashuk, are you done? Do you have
another question? Ms. Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) On page
8, No. 34, the second tab also states
“...Educator Development division, 18 of 22
positions (82%) were vacant.” That’s 82
percent. What is the issue in filling these
positions? What has been done to ensure
these positions are being filled? I’'m curious
to know, when we talk about Article 23, and
it’s also mentioned in this report that a lot of
the positions could be filled by high school
graduates or Inuit in general in the
communities. My question is: what is the
issue in filling these positions?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. The Department of Education
continues to work with the Department of
Human Resources to follow the staffing
process and there is always priority provided
to Inuit, and often the job advertisements will
state it is an indeterminate position if it is
filled by a beneficiary. However, if it is not,
it becomes a term position so that way it is
always available for future staffing for Inuit
individuals. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. | have a few questions, but |
also want to ask a question on page 11,
paragraph 48, which talks about
(interpretation ends) guidance counsellors.
(interpretation) Is the Department of
Education looking at that? Are those
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positions filled? (interpretation ends) It states
“At the time of our audit, it was considering
obtaining funding for these positions.” I’'m
just curious to know if there are any new
guidance counsellors in the schools and how
many in the communities? (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Currently we have five guidance
counsellors in our schools; two in the
Qikigtani region, two in the Kivalliq region,
and one in the Kitikmeot. Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. | also thank you for indicating
that. Lastly I want to ask and I’'m aware that
the Department of Family Services was
responsible for the NEAT program,
apprenticeship for students, if they want to
take positions in the education system. It was
through Family Services in collaboration
with Education. They said they were going to
assess it further. What’s the status of that?
That’s my last question. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Is
your question directed to the Department of
Family Services? Ms. Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. It’s for the Department of
Family Services.

Chairman: Okay. (interpretation) Is it to the
Department of Family Services?

Ms. Nakashuk: Yes.
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Chairman: Ms. Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) | would like
my director to answer that question, please.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Apologies for whatever
technical difficulties we’re having with your
microphone, but we will have somebody
look at that. Mr. Clift.

Mr. Clift: Ma’na, Mr. Chairman. To the best
of my knowledge, that assessment didn’t
happen. Since becoming director of this
division a year ago, | had identified working
with Education to see about re-establishing
the NEAT program. With respect to our
apprenticeship unit, they’re very keen on it
and we see this as an important bridge
between high school and the world of work.
There are no specific plans at this point, but
certainly as we proceed, we will keep the
legislature advised. Ma 'na, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Nakashuk, you said that was your last
question, so maybe this is your last one. Ms.
Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Since he mentioned that
there’s not much being done on it and in the
report it states that students really enjoy
hands-on learning or work experience. The
way it is set up or the availability of it is
good for students. | wonder if this will be
looked at again, and | know that there are
challenges with lack of teachers, but I'm
asking if the program will definitely be
reinstated. That’s my last question. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
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Department of Family Services, Mr. Clift.

Mr. Clift: Ma’na, Mr. Chairman. If | could
please ask the Member to repeat the question.
Sorry, I didn’t quite get specifically what
you’re asking for; it was about teachers.
(interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Ms. Nakashuk and
apologies if that was me; I wasn’t sure who
that question was directed to, so if you could
please clarify, Ms. Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) My
question is to the Department of Family
Services, as they stated that there’s no
current plan to run this program. | understand
that when this program was running, there
were issues in terms of having a certified
journeyman to assist students as well as
teachers being committed to working with
the Department of Education to continue this
program. My question is: is the department
committing to restarting this NEAT program.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Family Services, Mr. Clift.

Mr. Clift: Ma’na, Mr. Chairman. Thank you.
We can’t make a commitment to that. It was
a program that was based in the schools and
so ultimately it’s the Department of
Education’s decision. We are certainly
committing to supporting that program
getting off the ground again if we can reach
the necessary agreement with the Department
of Education.

On a related issue, we are having discussions
in some communities about community-
based skills training, which we have involved
our colleagues at the college. That would
feed into a solution that we could come up
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with for the schools, but at this point we’re
not in a position to make that commitment
because it’s not in our jurisdiction. We will,
however, if Education wants to move
forward, completely support them. Ma 'na,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) This is an example of
why it’s so helpful to have different
departments in the same room. I’ll take Ms.
Nakashuk’s question with your permission
and turn it to the Department of Education in
terms of specific timelines regarding this
program. What information can you share
with us? Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. A review of this program began
this academic year, 2019-2020, and as my
colleague referenced, it would be in
partnership with a number of stakeholders.
Taking the lead would be the Curriculum
Development Division team and the
Iggaggaukkaringnig team, which involves
the math, science, career, and technology
division as well, hopefully partnering with
other organizations and looking at
individuals who have either trades or Red
Seal journeymen staff that we may partner
with for the benefit of our students. We are
reviewing this program this year.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Then would | be correct
to understand that the earliest we could see it
rolling out would be the beginning of the
2020 school year? Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. That would be dependent on our
partners and stakeholders and the availability
of tradespeople/journeymen to be able to
work in conjunction with us. Qujannamiik,
Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Before | move on to the
next Committee Member, just to the Office
of the Auditor General, the issue of staffing
has come up just in the past few questions.
Do you have any comments or observations
from the audit around staffing issues within
the Department of Education? | know that the
report says, “You need a strategy,” and the
department has said, “Yeah, we’re going to
get a strategy.” Okay. Beyond that, aside
from the whole strategy piece, observations
or comments you might have. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
What | would say about the strategy in
staffing in general, one of the observations
that | have made during the course of the
audit in speaking with school officials and
teachers is one of the challenges that they
face in terms of retaining teachers is in
relation to the support that they have. There’s
a lot of discussion about, and rightly so, the
recruitment and retention of teachers. One of
the observations that we make in the report in
paragraph 34 is about the vacancies in the
Educator Development and the Curriculum
Development divisions because we wanted to
highlight those given the important role that
they play in terms of supporting the teachers.

| guess the observation we would have is that
the retention and recruitment strategy that the
Department of Education is working on
recognize the role all of the people within the
department play in terms of supporting not
just the students but also the teachers. The
more support that can be put in place for the
teachers, | think, would ultimately help
potentially in terms of the retention of those
teachers. Again, | just wanted to emphasize
the importance of other personnel within the
department that play a key role, supporting
teachers within the schools, which ultimately

Ab/RPCSe OLANJY): AL /<ot

O P00 Lo CHLS/LI%/ DN DC
NNGSA@*LoC DG®N= 5

ASba A¥*Icno CLOLo.
AASIC>BCILSLE DrandLcSodé
CHLSe /LS DN NE

A®ba AY*Icno® ARNMNHoJ
Ac®od®Idcnpbd®o? C LPY?

LPe¢Y (OLANJO): Sdveal™, Ab/RPCSe,

A®ba AY®Ino® Cd*aSod A%l
QL CHL®ZLL®YDPNSC ACNARNS <L >
Ao <SAM ASba ALsNC
D>Sbec_SbNNYLESNC AbIL
ASSg>+CONSHSLE

A®ba AY®NN*aP*a SbeC*+ LLC
A2*LDAZLRM®. <L

D>b>Y N L >P_5YbcCe PoYLYC CLa.
ACKNARPNO® PoNDHNC L Ac L€
DRAACDTLSC aND>NCY 34

A* 0PCD>ALE*NDC CAPD ASPba ALC <L
Ac®o<PNENcDSeNC, Cod<d ASNIGHN=HNE
AbSCP> . nSbeCeN5J5 CALa

APba AL®NPN®/>SaS IS LcLo®
P AAQ AP/LLC. ACKNPNDA%Q So®
AbY®AATHCCEPLLC Ldo*LECDse
ACSANGY Ab¥SNPhg® ACSH<ISHSLE.

CLa AbJNccnPo<d®d® Jdobtb*ose
ASPba AYbCCP*a SodSLC. XM

APba AYPNE b A5 AbYNNLD>SHCCSLC
L5 ASba Abn b <sbseCne
D>SPLceb*a Gy oNd L Legseh > 5Ne
Ach®NOC CLea AbSN“c <5 D%,
sdyal AbYRPCE,

22



would alleviate some of the work that they
have to do and would allow them to focus
more on supporting students and potentially
help retain teachers as well in the long run.
Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you for those
observations. Mr. Kaernerk.

Mr. Kaernerk (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Good morning. (interpretation
ends) My question is to the Office of the
Auditor General. In paragraph 30, with the
low attendance rates, has the audit identified
any links between attendance rates and the
amount of time it took students to complete a
grade from levels 10, 11, 12. (interpretation)
That is the first question | wanted to ask.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Certainly attendance issues were a concern
that raised by many of the individuals we met
and consulted with during the audit.

One of the challenges that we faced was
when we looked at the attendance data, was
that there were questions around, for
example, the incompleteness of the data or
the quality. So what | mean by that is things
such as incomplete fields, missing records, or
duplicate records, and that prevented us from
really doing any kind of analysis in terms of
attendance and being able to really look at
attendance and, for example, students that
may have had to take more than one year to
complete a grade.

Our comments about the quality of the data, |
wanted to emphasize does not mean that

attendance is not a problem because certainly
if students are not attending class, they’re not
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getting the instruction that they require,
which is going to prevent them from
successfully completing a grade within a
year. | think that there is a linkage between
attendance and the ability of the student to
succeed in moving through a grade.
However, having complete and accurate data
is important, and | would say that based on
the steps that the department is taking to
strengthen its capacity in the area of data
analysis, | think is important, not only for
things such as looking at students who are
leaving school early or before graduating, but
also in the area of attendance as well. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Kaernerk.

Mr. Kaernerk: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for the information. Moving on
with my question to the Department of
Education, with your student information
system, and that you guys have agreed to the
Auditor General’s recommendation, is the
department working on the student
information system right now? Has the
department taken steps to improve the data?
Or how much training is [given] to those
staff?

(interpretation) That is my last question.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Yes, the one-on-one sessions,
small group sessions, and in-service being
provided to our schools began this past
August with the new software tool, with the
GoToTraining, and modules have already
been developed and created for that, so it has
begun. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Kaernerk, do you have a final question? Mr.
Kaernerk.

Mr. Kaernerk (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman, for recognizing me. That was
supposed to be the last one but it did come to
mind that under paragraph 59,
Iggagqaukkaringniqg team, for the
(interpretation ends) transition team; who are
they? Are they at the community level? Are
they from the district education authority, or
exactly who are these people? That’s the last
question I would like to ask. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. The Transition Team is located in
Arviat and that is in our Curriculum
Division. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Just for the committee,
if you could provide some specifics in terms
of these two teams. | believe the question
was about the two teams. How many staff are
on each team, and where are they located?
Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. The Transition Team is located in
Arviat, and the curriculum team is also
located in Arviat. Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) And then the next part
of the question is: it a team of two people, is
it a team of a hundred? How many positions
are we talking about with each of these
teams? Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
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Chairman. The transition team is three
individuals. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) And the curriculum
team? Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. 1 would have to get the exact
number, but it would be around twenty-two.
Twenty-one. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends). Thank you for
clarifying that. (interpretation) Following my
list of names, Ms. Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) Getting
back to my proper page.

| am interested in speaking a little bit about,
and asking questions about advanced level
courses and distance learning. Perhaps my
first question would to the Office of the
Auditor General. Your audit notes that some
advances course could be made available to
Nunavut students through distance learning,
and | am wondering of your audit evaluation,
how many students enrolled in distance
learning courses, and what topics of studies
were they interested in? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Office of the Auditor General, Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
In terms of the advanced level courses,
maybe a couple things that | would note: one
of the challenges that we had during the
audit, and it comes back to this question of
data, was trying to determine the number of
students who were taking distance learning,
for example, because we had asked the
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department for information and what we got
was... . We looked at the information and
then there was additional information that we
got, but we could not really come up with
something that was reliable, if you will.

However, we did note that the Alberta
Distance Learning Centre, and this was after
we had completed the audit, what we do is
reach out to organizations that we refer to in
the audit, it is essentially a process of asking
them “Is our reference to your organization,
have we interpreted it correctly?” It was
actually in that process that they were able to
send us a list of the number students, and
they indicated that there were thirteen
students that were taking on-line courses, and
it was in areas such as, to give you an
example, biology.

There are challenges, as we note in the
report. |1 do not know if they are necessarily
challenges, but in some schools there may be
a small number of students that are interested
in taking those courses. They may not have
the capacity within the school to teach those
courses, hence the distance learning provides
an opportunity for them to take that.

There are also 79 students who were using
the materials through the distance learning
program but not using it necessarily online.
To give you an example, there’s a program
here in Igaluit in the Inuksuk High School
called the storefront program and they, from
what we understand, were using some of
those materials for students who would come
into the school, mature students, and they
were using the materials, but the support was
being provided to them in the school.
Essentially those types of events/courses was
really around the science and math, so
biology, as we note in the report, physics,
chemistry, it’s using some of the science and
math programs.
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If I could maybe just conclude by saying that
one of the things that we noted in our audit
was the importance of providing students
with supports. Online learning can be
challenging. It’s often what they call self-
directed. The student really has to take the
course. They have to be disciplined, so to
speak, to complete the assignments. It’s not
like they’re going into a classroom studying;
they’re doing it on their own. Having those
supports in place, a teacher, for example,
available in the school or someone available,
potentially online, that can answer questions
that come up or challenges that a student may
face, that’s also an important piece of
offering distance learning, especially for
some of these more advanced courses that, in
their nature, can be challenging. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for that information. That’s very
interesting. | know that when I was on the
Special Committee to Review the Education
Act the last time around, not this time, this
came up as a concern by some of the students
that we met with where the school was not
offering new advanced courses in these areas
of biology, math. I remember one student
was very angry that she couldn’t take this
course and she didn’t seem to know that she
could do it through the distance learning
process.

| guess my next question is to the
Department of Education. | want to know if
the Department of Education has evaluated
what kinds of advanced level courses are
most in demand. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.
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Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. The department just completed
the K to 12 distance learning directive and
this improvised the process for families or
parents and students that they now can go
through the district education authorities
instead of through Alberta Education for this.
As previously referenced, we are in the
process of using additional data collection
software and tools so that we would be able
to track this information and requests in the
future. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
It was mentioned by the Auditor General’s
office that one of the challenges, perhaps, is
about you have to make sure there are
teachers and that to oversee the learning
when the students are learning through this
process. Obviously that’s one challenge.
What are some of the other challenges does
the department face when students want to
learn through this process? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Finding a designated educator to
support the student, challenges in the area of
technological support for connectivity and
videoconferencing capabilities at the school,
and ensuring that this information and data is
entered and recorded, which we are
addressing through the video training
sessions. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you. I just have one
more. | just want clarification and I just don’t
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know if this spelling is correct on page 5
when we talk about the transitional team and
the Iggagqgaukkaringniqg team. Is that the
correct spelling or not? Even when we’re just
talking about it here, we’re trying to do... .
What is the correct pronunciation of that?
We’re wondering if that is the correct
spelling or not. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Please give me a moment and |
will check on that with my notes.

The final three should be n-i-q,
lggaggaukkaringniq, 1-q-g-a-q-q-a-u-k-k-a-r-
i-n-g-n-i-q. That’s the curriculum strand to
represent math, science, career, and
technology. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Iggaggaukkaringnig. (interpretation ends)
Just to add to Ms. Angnakak’s question about
distance learning on your updated GN
response, page 4 of 8 here, it makes reference
to reimbursement process, which the
directive clarifies and simplifies the
enrolment and reimbursement process for
distance learning courses. If you could just
explain who is getting reimbursed, who is
spending money, and where is money
changing hands when it comes to a distance
learning course. Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Previously it would have to go
through Alberta Education. Now it’s going
through the DEAs and the money is supplied
by the Department of Education. However, |
would have to check for the specifics as to
where it’s initiating. Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
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(interpretation ends) I just wanted to clarify
that because [ wasn’t sure if parents were
spending money to register their children, but
it sounds like it’s between the DEAs and the
department or the school and the department.
Thank you for clarifying that. Ms.
Kamingoak.

Ms. Kamingoak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Welcome to the House. In paragraph 22 of
the report, this is for the Auditor General.
The Department of Education “requires
Grade 9 students to develop a personal career
and program plan.” Did your audit analyze
information for all grade 9 students across
Nunavut to determine the extent to which
this requirement was being met? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Your question is regarding the career
program plans. In paragraph 49 we focused
on the seven schools that we examined in
terms of the career program plans, and in
paragraph 9 we state what we found was that
four of the seven schools had complete or
prepared career program plans. One of our
observations was the plans that were being
completed, I would say, varied in terms of
the level of detail that was contained in the
plans. Some were fairly brief, and some were
actually quite detailed in terms of the amount
of attention and effort that went into in
completing the plans and working with the
student.

We also noted, and to a certain extent this |
think has changed over the course of the
audit, was in relation to the awareness. Some
individuals indicated to us that they were not
aware of the requirement, or that it was just
not something that they were necessarily
aware of. That | guess would tie back to my
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earlier comment about the role that the
division such as educator-development plays.
They play a key role in terms of being in
schools and helping train teachers and others
such as principals and vice-principals about
the schools policies and insuring them that
they are aware of what is required. | just
wanted to reemphasise that as well.

Coming back to your question, we did not
look at all of the schools, but in paragraph
forty-nine we note what we found in the
seven that we did examine. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Kamingoak.

Ms. Kamingoak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The same, paragraph 22, for the Department
of Education, how does the department track
and monitor the development of each
student’s personal career and program plan?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. The Career and Program
Planning, the CPP, is embedded in the health
curriculum for grade 9, and also in the
Aulajaaqtut courses in grade 10, 11, and 12.
Grade 10 and 11 are mandatory, so this can
be tracked to the Student Information System
and the Educational School Program Plan,
but in addition to that, we are working with
our regional school offices, our
superintendents, principals, and educator
development team to stress the importance
and provide support to ensure these courses
are being offered in our schools.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Kamingoak.
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Ms. Kamingoak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Moving onto paragraph 27 of the Auditor
General’s report, paragraph 27 of your report
lists a number of factors which can affect
student’s academic performance, and refers
specifically to the high percentage of school
aged children with hearing impairments. Did
your audit also included an analysis of
supports provided to the students with
hearing impairments or other physical
challenges? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The issue of hearing impairments was an area
that we thought was important to highlight in
part because again, as we’ve mentioned in a
previous audit in 2013, issues such as
overcrowded housing, food insecurity can
certainly play a role, but maybe what is less
well known are issues such as hearing
impairments.

During the course of the audit, we were
aware that there has been research done in
this area, and that there are supports in some
schools. It was not an area that we examined
in detail, but we were aware that there have
been initiatives to better understand the
prevalence of hearing impairments and that
in some classroom settings there are, how
would you describe it... aids in place to help
the students better hear the teacher. It also, I
guess, emphasizes the whole notion that this
IS an issue that is not just something that the
Department of Education can address but that
other departments can contribute, so for
example, in this case the Department of
Health. It’s also, I would say, another
example of supports such as mental health
supports that could be in schools that can
help alleviate some of the pressure that is put
on, whether it’s individual teachers or
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principals and vice-principals, again, that
notion of other departments in the
government being able to contribute to
student success at the end of the day. Thank
you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Kamingoak.

Ms. Kamingoak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

My question to the Department of Education
is: how do you monitor the students who
have hearing impairments? We would like
for students to be not falling back because of
their hearing impairments. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. The Department of Education
takes the hearing of our students very
seriously and, over the last several years,
have been active in installing the Phonak
SoundField systems in the majority of our
schools and providing training to the student
support teachers, teachers, and student
support assistants. To date, in the Qikigtani
region, all elementary schools and many of
the high schools have received this
equipment and training; in the Kitikmeot
region half of the schools have received the
equipment and training; and in the Kivalliqg
region half of the schools have received the
equipment and training, and this is ongoing.
Most recently, to better support the learning
needs of our hard of hearing students, the
department has hired a deaf and hard of
hearing specialist. Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Kamingoak.

Ms. Kamingoak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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How does the department work with the
Department of Health on this? I know in my
community we have a long list of patients
that need to be seen. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. The Student Achievement
Division in the Department of Education
works collaboratively with the Department of
Health and other departments to ensure that
additional supports are provided and the
needs of our students are addressed. Often a
wraparound approach is taken. Qujannamiik,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Towtongie.

Ms. Towtongie (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. My question is for the
college. In paragraph 23 on page 5 of the
report it states that the Office of the Auditor
General found that the college “offers several
post-secondary programs, including nursing
and teaching.” I would like to know if the
students in the higher grades are clearly
informed of the programs that are offered.

(interpretation ends) Something wrong?

Chairman (interpretation): We can’t hear the
English translation. Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Ms. Towtongie, if you
could repeat your question. There was an
issue with the translation. Ms. Towtongie.

Ms. Towtongie (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Unfortunately I will say it in
English.

(interpretation ends) Paragraph 23 of the
audit report notes that Nunavut Arctic
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College offers post-secondary programs in
nursing and teaching. I would like to know
what efforts are made by the college to
inform high school students... .

Chairman: I’m sorry. Sorry, Ms. Towtongie.

We’re having technical difficulties with the
translation. It’s a new system that we’re
working with here. At this point we will take
a 10-minute break and we will return in 10
minutes. Hopefully we will have the issues
fixed then. (interpretation) We will see you
again later.

>>Committee recessed at 10:20 and
resumed at 10:43

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you for
coming back. (interpretation ends) I call the
meeting back to order. Before we go to Ms.
Towtongie and her question, the Department
of Education has something they would like
to clarify. Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. In regard to the distance learning
directive, 1 would like to clarify that it is the
parents or the student that is responsible for
the initial payment and then they are
reimbursed by the DEA. Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I don’t know if I’'m
allowed to ask a question to your
clarification, but what happens in a case
where parents don’t have, let’s say, a
thousand dollars lying around to enrol their
child into a distance learning course? Is there
any money available for that type of
situation? Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Yes, there will be provisions in
the directive to account for that type of
situation. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you for clarifying
that. (interpretation) You will try again, Ms.
Towtongie. Let me remind the Members and
presenters that you shouldn’t push the
buttons in front of you. (interpretation ends)
Please do not push any of the buttons on the
console in front of you other than the volume
control and the translation-related ones.
(interpretation) Is that clear? Thank you. Ms.
Towtongie.

Ms. Towtongie (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Paragraph 23 of the audit
report notes that Nunavut Arctic College
offers post-secondary programs in nursing
and teaching. I would like to know what
efforts are made by the college to inform
high school students of those programs and
how do they work with the Department of
Education so that adult learners can have a
better understanding of how to further their
education to gain employment. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Arctic College, Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. 1 also thank you for that question.
First of all, I would like to welcome our
employee, Jackie Price, who is sitting in the
gallery. We hired her for policy work and
will now be assisting us.

We follow past practices. What avenue do
we use? Sometimes our staff themselves do
that in collecting information or to attract
students. Moving forward, we have
introduced and that we’re hiring staff on
communications and we are looking for
students or information officers. We’re
staffing those positions. Even though that’s
the case, even though they’re going to be
indeterminate positions, we will be working
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together at Arctic College to deal with that.

We will have to advertise them more in the
future, especially information for the public
and the communities. Not only Arctic
College will have to travel to all the
communities and that’s obvious already. We
want to advertise the communications
positions and the board of governors has
directed us to have better plans at Arctic
College in the next ten years and how we’re
going to deal with it as the college in
Nunavut.

On top of that, our collaborators, | mentioned
Memorial University and they have agreed to
be involved and they will be training in their
past practices, especially for the more
isolated communities, on what they have
done. Also Canada-wide, we are involved
with the Colleges and Institutes Canada. The
director of CICan went to Nunavut for the
first time and they have agreed to provide
assistance to us.

Also, in the communities Inuit organizations
are open and we have been collaborating
with them. It’s obvious that they provide
services to students in the communities and
also to NTEP students. It was mentioned
briefly yesterday that other organizations like
Kakivak, Kivallig and Kitikmeot Inuit
associations, and we will be working closely
with them to make a decision in the future
because we cannot deal with this by
ourselves.

Also, the Department of Education, we just
signed an agreement in moving forward, not
just in one year, who are thinking about
going to Arctic College so that they can think
more about...available to the students and
there are quite a few things, but I just gave
you a summary. | hope was clear. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Towtongie.

Ms. Towtongie (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Also in paragraph 20 of the
Auditor General’s report, it shows a picture
of courses that were available for adults
beginning in 2014 to 2019. The Kitikmeot
was the only region they offered adult
learning courses. Why was Kitikmeot treated
differently than the Kivalliq or Qikigtani
regions? What is the status of that? That is
my final question, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Towtongie, we will try and deal with your
question regarding adult, but you are going a
little too far forward. Mr. Suvega, if you
would like to respond to that right now.

Mr. Suvega: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and
thank you for the question. In terms of past
practices, we are reviewing what was useful.
Sometimes our terms are different from the
past. We are trying to review it within Arctic
College to determine best practices for one
community and how they can be applied in
other communities, especially for the smaller
communities that we don’t hear from.

After our meeting in Baker Lake last spring,
we were given direction by the board of
governors as to how the smaller communities
could be provided assistance, and what is
available through communications. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Just to clarify; right now
we’re working on pages 5 to 15 of the report
and taking questions on that. Once members’
questions have finished, we will move on to
the next section of the report focused on
adult learners. Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Good morning, or good afternoon,
colleagues. I'm happy today because my
suitcase finally arrived.

>>[ aughter
I’'m getting it today.

On page 12, paragraph 52 in your report, my
question is to Office of the Auditor General.
Your report recommends that “The
Department of Education should ensure that
high school students are getting advice on
academic and career options...” and that
school staff are “...provide training and
support materials to... give students career
advice.”

Did your audit evaluate how many Nunavut
students had initiated a career plan and
selected school courses based on their plan?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Office of the Auditor General, Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
In terms of the career program plans, we
refer to them in a couple of places. One is in
paragraph, I believe it’s 19. I’'m sorry,
paragraph 22; really what the requirements
are with respect to preparing a plan and how
they are meant to be used to help guide a
student through high school. And in
paragraph 49 of our report, that is where we
indicate that for the seven schools that we
examined, we found evidence that students
were preparing career program plans, and
maybe what | would just add to that is the
importance of not... . I think there is an
opportunity to strengthen the use of career
and program plans, so not that there are
completed and then put in a file, but in fact
that if they could be integrated into, for
example hands-on learning opportunities,
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work experience opportunities, so that the
potential of those plans could be realized.

| think that they can play an important role.
So not just completing them, but also help
using them as a guide for students and as a
means of identifying, for example, what kind
of work experience or hands-on learning they
could benefit from based on their
experiences, or interests | should say in
school.

We did note in, again in paragraph 49, the
number. What | would say is that | think that
the potential of what they offer is something
that could be strengthened. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you. My question now is
towards the Department of Education. In its
response to the audit report recommendation
regarding career and program plans, the
Department of Education noted that some
schools may not be following the mandatory
career and program planning process.

What steps have been taken to identify those
high schools which may not be following this
process and ensuring that they will undertake
to do so? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. And thank you for the question.

Currently, the Department of Education is
working with our regional school operations,
principals, educator development, to ensure
the CPP is part of the education and program
planning, and the fall review will be soon
submitted to the regional school operations
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for review in the department. So there is an
opportunity built in to ensure these courses
and programs are being offered.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. On
page 12 of the auditor’s report, your response
to the recommendation, paragraph 52, you
say the “...course selection and involving
parents in these life choices... .” Can you
explain to us what that means? Or how do
you respect the parents when they want to go
ahead with their programs in the future.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for the question.

The parents are involved throughout the CPP
process and would be invited to our high
schools to participate in the review of the
CPP. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. The
questions are now geared towards school
councillors. First of all, can you explain to
me what a student support assistant does?
What does that job... what does the person
doing that job “school support assistant”?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. A student support assistant
provides supports and works in classrooms
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with teachers to help students in their
learning, often working with special needs
students, students who may be on individual
program plans, and they provide extra
support at the direction of the teacher.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
guess I got the wrong person I’m trying to
get at, but you have some people who help
out high school students. I don’t think they
are considered as school counsellors. You
said that you have only five school
counsellors in the territory and you have
some people who sit in the schools that do
some sort of counselling with students, but I
don’t know what their job title is. Can you
tell me who they are and what their title is?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. There are five guidance
counsellors in our schools. The guidance
counsellors in particular would provide
support in career counselling, work
placement experience for high school
students; in addition to that, we have school
community counsellors, so two different
positions in our schools, Ilinniarvimmi
Inuusilirijiit. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Community counsellors don’t have the same
work as a school counsellor. Am I correct?
Does a community counsellor need more
education to become a school counsellor?
Am I going in the right direction? ’m just
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trying to find out if every school can get a
guidance counsellor in each school so that
the students can go to them and be forwarded
to what kind of programs that they have to
have to get to where they’re going, if you
understand what I’'m trying to say. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. The department is considering the
provision of guidance counsellors in all of
our schools. In particular the guidance
counsellors do provide course selection,
future career advice, looking at what’s
required for entrance into colleges,
universities, or trades, which would be
different from the position of Ilinniarvimmi
Inuusilirijik, and that’s our school
community counsellor. The school
community counsellor would provide more
social supports for our students and the
liaison between the school and the home.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for the clarification. Every school
has a community counsellor and, if they
do...I see you nodding your head. Mr.
Chairman, you say the department is also
considering developing further training for
school staff in this area as a guidance
counsellor. Am | correct and, if so, can the
community counsellors become a guidance
counsellor? If you had one in every school,
can you train them to become guidance
counsellors? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

CAL Ac®o<SécLe

ASba ALCR®CHL <o ¢

Db DYAACPaSL*LC Cbdd Ac®o<SeNo®
>LECPL*aSLC. Sb.oADo?
Ac®o<dn<sbSL*LC <<n A D>SbeCoNe
AL*a D<na.<CMa® NP>NSI<SNE,
DPAUAD® DSbD>Ina CS. Sdy*al®,
AbIRDCE®,

Ab/<RPCS (ONANJO): Sdy*al™. M Lol ®.

Lbrc® (ONANJO): Sdyeal™, AbY/RQUCSb,
ACALAS AALPNS®YDPNSH®DC CLbd<
A®ba AL®CH< oS 1C Db Praa
Acto<di\cNeo. Cbd<

A®ba AL®CH< oI Db Prapc
ac<to? Acto<So<SL*ULC oP<®NNAC,
PP<o Ldo*L A CD®LA¥<0¢
PCEDBNATH G C ASba Al o- 5*G ¢
DLINRECLE PRPYCHLC, ALY NC
Ao <A Aol CAPI

Ao <OT Aolcnn AodD<

oL 0*Lo e Ab<®AASHCSo<SLC
Ao PN, AL %NS

Ao <SOD><> bA®/Lo*La®b. sdyeal™,
AP/ RDCE®,

Ab/RPCSe (OLANJC): NC GSg<tse,

q45d<qse; (ONNNUO):5dL>al™®, AbY DL,
sdyeal™ DPYNS/Ya NGAC. CAL
Ac®o<SAC CLAC Aocnnsbse<e?
ACbSa<C 5 CLAC <*Se/LSdGANC
CAL®a. AS/RPCSe, DShe/LLAC Cbdd
D>SbSo/LJCCP> Codd Ao <D nAedC
?21¢ Ac®odlNo® <Ly AcKARDNY oS
CLe*P<>%? Sbose Cbd<d oa cI>CAC
AcPyD>Yeq o< AS 5 pa c® ACNASAS
Ao<lo CLA%o ACSbSose<c, A 5

Db AN N>Iob? Sdyeal™®, AbYRDCS,

Ab/QPCSe (ONANJO): Sd*al™®. M Lo e,

44



Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for the question. We
work with our partners, such as Nunavut
Arctic College, and looking at different
laddering programs for school staff, such as
[linniarvimmi Inuusilirijiit, who are
interested in different positions to get that
additional training. Yes, the potential is there
that they could become guidance counsellors
in schools. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
understand that you are using the principles
or the teachers that are at the school now as a
guidance counsellor. You are getting them to
direct students to what programs they need to
go to where they’re getting at and make
already overloading or overworking the
present staff. Training the community
counsellors to become guidance counsellors
would be great just to help the present staff
from being overworked, which they already
are. It’s just a comment. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
It’s just a comment. Just to follow up to Mr.
Akoak’s question, would the Department of
Education be able to provide, not today |
guess, but a written summary, a list of all the
different positions in the schools and what
the educational requirements or other
qualifications are for those positions? For
example, inuusilirijik needs to be what? Does
a guidance counsellor need to have a
teaching degree? Does a language specialist
need to have a teaching degree? I hope I'm
being clear in terms of what I’'m requesting.
Would the Department of Education be
willing to prepare a summary for Committee
Members and provide it to us at a later date?
Ms. MacMillan.
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Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Yes, we can commit to providing
information about school positions.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you for
committing to that. Mr. Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Welcome, everyone. Hearing
these questions and responses, sometimes
considering as an Inuk, we can speak in
Inuktitut and hopefully we ask different
questions in Inuktitut as we have a Nunavut
territory and because the Inuktitut language
IS very important and it has to be taught and
learned. Yes, I was taught in English, so I'm
going to speak and ask questions in English.

(interpretation ends) First to the Auditor
General, paragraphs 42 and 43 of your report
address the difference between standardized
departmental exams and classroom marks for
students taking grade 12 English. Your 2013
audit noted that there was an average 26
percent point difference between the two
marks while a more recent analysis
conducted under your current audit notes a
difference of 20 percent points. Can you
clarify why this difference in marks is
important and why you recommended that
the Department of Education complete and
implement its directive to reduce the gap
between the classroom marks and the
standardized exam marks? (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Office of the Auditor General, Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. The question with respect to
assessing differences between classroom
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marks and standardized exams is important.
It’s something that we noted, as the Member
mentioned, in 2013 in our 2013 audit as well.

There are three issues or three reasons why
we would note that it’s important to look at
the differences. One is to know whether
students are being properly prepared in the
classroom for the exams. Are they being
prepared in terms of the content and the
questions, for example, that they would be
asked or could be asked?

It would also help, for example, if a principal
were to note that there was a big gap between
a final exam mark and an in-classroom mark.
It could help a principal identify whether
teachers needed additional support in
providing classroom assessments and helping
prepare students.

Lastly, it can also be used to help inform
decisions with respect to whether different
assessment tools and approaches are needed
or required in terms of assessing student
knowledge regarding that specific topic.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) The next
question is addressed to the Department of
Education. The audit report recommends in
paragraph 44 that the Department of
Education complete and implement its
guidelines on student assessment. In its reply
the department indicates that the “draft
student assessment and reporting policy that
is being reviewed following feedback from
the Coalition of Nunavut District Education
Authorities, which recommended that the
Department revise the policy to further
reflect Inuit Qaujimajatugangit.” What is the
current status of the student assessment

<L > C®a 2013-T.

Cdd ana AYPCHINGT Lo
A*LAC®ILLE ADA“P>PC>ILLC Codd
ARNPONS AMLAYAS @ e AYNENSLIJC
AL D505 <L Cbdd
CDISYLNHGENY PR Peg e,

DL, SH>N<ShSaS,
SH>ALY N SbSae Ao I% Ca
<S@EO®CHNSLAML® Act oS> Ao,
CLbdo™L ASH <ty <Sa CI®eCP>CNSL LS.
AL Cedd AA®ICDLAC S BPONN I
AARLDUYSLE QAT ASCHLYSLE,
AA®ICPUYSL S A5y Coa ACNANDIS,
AALC® aaAS/Ja NP Cedd. CAb*LC
Ao D5 shPANCDo L Acto <o
Sbose L PNNPYLLC,

AchI® C*a Ab¥SeCP>LA<SbPo
AbIPNCALDP<LE L5 Ao <ISeD<
Ao<lo AbI®NCALb®Lc®<C,
<SQIATSI S Ao <D0, PyJee<C
D%CPJ*a Do PYcPNa® ALLS,
Sboose AALCDPNCYJ%asase, ALLSh C=
LAY, A5 Acto<dPN* Mo
ALAbLMLC DRSS g C
DAbBL G Co %L Aco<eDIC
SO>MLY LU Labod. sdr*al™, Ab/UCEe,

AbYRXAPCse (ONNNJO): Sdb*al®, MC Sd<h.

SddN: Sdveal®, AbYRPC®, (ORNNJO)
AASPINNPT<eCS, D DG
Ao %I nnbd® of. Cbd<d CLS/ INo
QoA AYS o 44-T. Ced<lc

Ao <D nnbde AbASeYLMLC. Ced<d
LcP<SbeCrocs Cdod Ac®o<%®DIc
<S@JCPYC, CAL Cbd<d Ac®o<Dcnnbdc
D>SbSe/L<C @ Ha ALY Cbdd
<SQ®IATS Acto<eDIC L5 Leh\»ne
SPrsPseCP>o Loy <L Cedd PLLw®NC
Ao <D nNdE 0C PLLSBIANS 5
CLbdd <DcSdyD>PLLC. Cbd<

Ao <D nnbde

A 5L P bLE LMo,

47



policy and how has it specifically been
revised to reflect Inuit Qaujimajatugangit?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for the question.
Currently the assessment evaluation and
reporting framework policy handbook, the
work is still underway and it is incorporating
the feedback of the stakeholders that were
consulted for that. Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Just to add on, we are aware that
since we had the Nunavut territory in
existence, our government departments and
with the Inuit Qaujimajatugangit principles,
we had a foundation. It’s about 20 years now
that 1Q principles are our foundation. The
way I understand it currently, it’s being
reviewed and it’s being processed. Maybe |
misunderstood, but like I said earlier, for 20
years ever since we had Nunavut, the Inuit
Qaujimajatugangit principles were always
out of base or out of foundation. Just to get
more clarification, are they just reviewing
that and are they just finally establishing the
IQ principles? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for the question. All of
the policy documents and frameworks that
are created by the Department of Education
incorporate the principles of Inuit
Qaujimajatugangit and to ensure that’s
reflected. The feedback is being taken
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seriously to incorporate into the document.
The timeline for that is to be completed and
ready to deliver to schools by 2020-21.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I’ll move on to something else.
The Auditor General’s office, I call them by
another name in Inuktitut, but they’re the one
and the same or maybe I just call them that
because I’m not fully clear on the
terminology.

(interpretation ends) Paragraph 45 of your
report provides examples of advanced
physics and chemistry as advanced level
courses that are not offered in many of our
schools. Did your audit identify any other
types of advanced level courses that were not
offered and, if so, what were they?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. The types of courses, just to give
examples, would include things such as
biology and advanced math. One of the
challenges, for example, with respects to
offering these types of courses as we note in
our report, were a lack of teachers that had
the back grounds to be able to teach those
courses, and also the small number of
students who wanted to take those courses, or
were academically prepared.

Nonetheless as we emphasize in the report,
having access to such courses is important
for students who are interested in going on
into certain fields that require things such as
science and math to go on into post-
secondary. Having access to that, and as we
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talk about it in our report, that can be through
distance learning as one of the means of
offering that to students. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. This question, perhaps, is going
toward the Department of Education.
(interpretation ends) Again, I’'m just referring
this question to the Department of Education.

Paragraph 45 again, of the audit report notes
that many of the schools did not offer
advanced level courses, and as we heard,
some of the explanations from the auditor,
again which could be important for students
who wish to follow certain select post-
secondary programs.

Has the Department of Education evaluated
what kinds of advanced level courses are
most in demand, and what factors most
commonly prevent their delivery?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman, and thank you for the question.

With the Department of Education’s new
data and software we are beginning to track
those requests and there are some challenges
related to the distance education.

For example, the technological support that
would be required in video conferencing at
the school, the capabilities at the school
level, as well as the capacity of teachers in
those specialized areas, and the collection of
data that, again, we are addressing through
the video training. Qujannamiik, Mr.

ALSD>EeQ SLC Cod<d Ac®o %D of,
Sgheal™, Ab/RDCSe,

APYRQU>CSe: Sdyeal™®, MC Sddh.

SddN: SdY%al™®, AbYRPCse,

CaNA%a <% JA®INNo<deCS Cod o™l
Ao <D nrbd® o ONMNJC) CAL Da
Ac®o<d®Dcnrbd® of JA®INL.

Coa 45T asaAbS/LI% Cbdd
QAP Codd Ao <SJs®
ArA<ALJSe Cedo™L
Ac®o<LbNSbe NN >E+PLLC <L

DN 5CH Ceda™L CLLSeYLIse/>®eNedgb
ALLAD*M*a DY SLE CLea Ac®o <D o
<AL > Cedd gP<Clro® @ € P CI®RNSALT.

CAL Ac®o<sDcndbdt CLa
So>ANCDOYLR SboADTE
Ac®o<dLbho® ALDILE LY <AL Ao
ANCDLL AL 0%bPCP>HCH<, Ao
ShoL_oS? Sdyeal®, AbYRDCS,

AP/RU>CS®: Sdhoal™® N Lo

Lerc® (ONANJO): Sgb>al™, Ab/RP>CSb,
sgyal <5 <A®IN® o,

Cod<d Ac®o<eDnAPdC SbnKD>LbdC
ACPDPHAR eI L >
Db/GALD>HEC®IC CALI
AcD>ob< << NPT,

CLédo*Lo A5y sbnhDhbde
Ac®a<PNPLAC
AbY®NHHCAbSao<IeIC QL 5 ¢
CcdNedC ASMeq S KNPLSHEC>N 5N
AbIBNNJ*a I <L > AcSANMCSbS Do
CALASDCA>Ro®, odC>oON=> CAbI<
26/GALC Ao d®C>YLLC CAINJa st

50



Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Before we move to the
next person, maybe | will just follow-up on
Mr. Quassa’s question.

Are there any language courses that are
available through distance education? | am
thinking for example, if I live in Cambridge
Bay and | want to take Inuktitut, is that
available through distance education? Or, if |
live in Arviat and | want to learn French, if a
high school student wanted to take French
classes, are there any language courses
available? Or is it mostly specialized;
physics, science type of courses? Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. We will look into that course list
of languages and we will get back to you on
that. Qujannamiik.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you Mr. Chairman,
for allowing me an opportunity to ask a few
more questions. | only have about two
themes, so | will keep it short.

I would like to follow up on my colleague’s
questions regarding guidance councillors.
My first question will be to the office of the
Auditor General. | would like to enquire if it
IS common practice in Canada to have a
guidance councillor in every high school.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My understanding is that guidance
councillors are available in schools, and |
think, depending on the jurisdiction, what
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might be a deciding factor or in terms of how
many counsellors are available is the number
of students in our school. There would be a
formula that’s put in place in terms of one
counsellor per X number of students. I think
that’s certainly a factor that comes into play.

Something that I may have mentioned
yesterday but I thought it would be worth
noting as well is, for example, in the
Northwest Territories how they are
introducing a team of counsellors to serve the
territory and they call them a mobile team so
that they are centralized, | believe, in
Yellowknife but they will service schools
across the territory. That includes being there
in person but also providing follow-up
support as required, either through
teleconferences or videoconferences.

We’re also aware of an innovative approach
in Nunatsiavut where they have an individual
who also plays a similar role in terms of
providing advice to students and helping
them with that transition through high school
into post-secondary, so providing advice to
them in terms of the options that are
available as well as what’s required to get
into certain programs and helping ensure that
the students are aware of those prerequisites
and are able to take them or take them in
school if they’re offered. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for that additional information.

My next question is for the Department of
Education. I'm glad that 20 percent of our
high schools do have guidance counsellors,
but it’s unfortunate that there are still 80
percent of high schools that do not have
guidance counsellors. As was previously
indicated, if the Government of Nunavut is
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ever to achieve Article 23 and reach the 85
percent Inuit employment, it’s going to be
several organizations that are going to be
required to train the next generation to meet
those qualifications, such as the Department
of Education, Arctic College, and Family
Services, but given those three different
organizations and their roles, | see it as the
guidance counsellor in schools that has the
most ability or the best ability to actually
accomplish that.

My first question to the Department of
Education is: who determines the allocation
of guidance counsellors in our high schools?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for the question. The
Nunavut student-educator ratio determines
the overall number of teaching staff allocated
to schools. Schools, working in collaboration
with the DEA and the RSOs, decide what
teachers are going to teach what courses and
it’s up to them if they want to assign a
position as a guidance counsellor. Most
schools do not have guidance counsellors
because they choose to allocate those
individuals to teach specific courses in our
classrooms. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Just to clarify that on
your behalf, who decides, let’s say, this
person is going to serve as a guidance
counsellor? Is it the principal’s decision or is
it the DEA’s decision in terms of what you
just described? Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. It’s a decision that would be made
in collaboration, but ultimately the principal
is responsible for assigning teaching duties.
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Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My next question is also for the Department
of Education. I'm glad that there are at least
five guidance counsellors in our territory
supporting our secondary students, but I
would like to enquire if this figure of five
guidance counsellors has remained constant
or has been increasing over the years. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. We will have to get back to you
with that data. (interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
understand that the guidance counsellors
serve a crucial role in assisting our high
school students, but | for one believe it
would be in the government’s best interest if
these guidance counsellors were removed
from the student-educator ratio to ensure that
principals and DEAs don’t have to make that
tough decision whether they should support
their high school students in their achieving
or completing their diploma and then
planning the next steps off to work or some
other type of position.

My question to the Department of Education
is: do they believe that the guidance
counsellors should be removed from the
student-educator ratio? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
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MacMiillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for the question. The
department is considering the provision of
guidance counsellors in high schools.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
just want to re-clarify my question. I’m glad
that the department is considering... . [ can’t
recall the exact wording, but my question
was: does the Department of Education and
the government believe that guidance
counsellors are crucial to the success of our
high school grads and that the guidance
counsellors should be removed from the
student-educator ratio to ensure that every
high school student has access? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. The Department of Education
does feel that the role of a guidance
counsellor is very important for our high
schools and our students to benefit their
learning and future career planning.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’ll rephrase that. Will the Department of
Education commit to removing guidance
counsellors from the student-educator ratio?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.
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Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. We’re definitely considering that.
However, at this time we cannot make any
commitments. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) | understand your
hesitance to commit to things. I think, Mr.
Lightstone, questions of that nature would be
better directed to the Minister of Education.
Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
do appreciate that response. | would like to
move on to my next question and it’s in
relation to paragraph 52 and the department’s
response. The Department of Education had
indicated that there are several schools or
schools that have undergone high staff
turnover, which prevents the department
from ensuring career planning and student
success. My first question is: how many
schools suffer from high turnover and which
ones? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for the question. It
varies from year to year, school to school, so
I wouldn’t have that specific data with me at
this time. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
understand that turnover does fluctuate from
year to year, but | do consider this type of
information crucial, once again, to the
outcome of our education program. | would
like to ask if the Department of Education
would consider incorporating high rates of
turnover into the annual reports that we
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might identify areas of concern and then also
find a means of addressing it. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for the question. We
can consider including that information in
future reports. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Just
to follow up on Mr. Lightstone’s line of
questioning, if there is a school where you
see turnover year after year after year and it’s
not just here and there, it’s like chronic
where you can’t keep the educators or the
staff in the school, does the Department of
Education have a practice or a way of
identifying that type of situation and
rectifying it? I’m thinking of the regional
school operations, I guess. Do they track
things of this nature and try to address
problems if they exist? Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. That will definitely be
incorporated into the retention and
recruitment strategy. However, | need to
reiterate that it fluctuates from school to
school and we would consider collecting that
data. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Right now we’re on the
portion of the report focused on high school
students. Right now I have no further names
on my list, looking around. I’m just going
to... . Mr. Qirngnugq.

Mr. Qirngnugq (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. | wanted to ask a question on
this regarding the Office of the Auditor
General’s report on page 6 within paragraph
28. It’s obvious that it has been discussed
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before. | wanted to ask a question along the
lines of my thinking. The Office of the
Auditor General has noted that some high
school students in grades 10, 11, and 12
leave school before finishing their grade. My
question is regarding the years 2015, 2016,
and 2017, just those three years. That
comprises of many students, 1,275, young
people who would have received further
education but have dropped out in those
years.

In the Office of the Auditor General’s report
on page 7, paragraph 31, it states that “The
Department of Education should develop and
implement a strategy that specifies the
actions that it and other partners will take to
help students graduate from high school...”
The Department of Education’s response is
that they “will develop a 10-year strategic
plan.” What does the Office of the Auditor
General think of that? Do they think 10 years
is too short or too long? Mr. Chairman, |
hope that came across. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
If it’s okay, Mr. DeJong would like to answer
the question. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
DeJong.

Mr. DeJong: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Ten
years for a plan is too long, but a plan has to
be a living document. To say we’re going to
go ten years and not start, that’s clearly not
what we’re talking about. | have really been
encouraged by the Member questions and the
focus on data. We need reliable data on that
used as examples; it has come up in the
questioning on things like attendance, on
things like completion rates, on things like
job vacancies. That plan has to be a living
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document.

One of the mantras that we use is sort of this
plan-do-check-improve. It’s not that you do
the plan and put it in a filing cabinet. It really
has to be “Has the graduation rate gotten
better? Has the attendance situation gotten
better?”” And real monitoring and real follow-
up on an ongoing basis. From that
standpoint, no, if it was just, “We wrote a
plan and we will do another one in ten
years,” we would be very disappointed, but I
think we have been very encouraged by the
opening statements of the departments where
there does seem to be real recognition that
they will require cooperation and some
substantive steps in that direction.

In that plan, the critical elements, I think,
cooperation, this is not a one-entity issue. In
realistic time frames, attendance will not be
sorted out in one year. These are the sorts of
things that will take time, will involve
parents, and will involve changing attitudes.
The other thing is realistic costing. A
department that has 82 percent vacancies, it
will cost more when you don’t fill all the
vacancies. | think the fact that the plan covers
a ten-year period is the right answer, but we
would very much want to see that sort of
plan-do-check-improve kind of mentality that
it’s actively being used as a management tool
and actively being monitored. Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (Ms. Towtongie): Thank you,
auditor. (interpretation) Member Qirngnug.

Mr. Qirngnuq (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. | also thank you for
responding to what | was wondering about.
I’m asking in consideration of page 7 of the
Auditor General’s report. There’s a response
in paragraph 32. The Department of
Education has provided a response regarding
the SIS which has been implemented with
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respect to that. If I understood it correctly, it
has been considered that the information
system is complex, as students’ lives are
complex. That’s why I asked about the
number of years, as ten years seems to be a
long time when it comes to students’
education. We would all like to see students
receive their education, those of us here in
this Chamber, as we do support the students.
That’s just a comment. Thank you for
clarifying that for me. Madam Chairperson,
that’s all.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Member Qirngnug. Member John Main.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. (interpretation ends) |
want to ask questions about the finding
around attendance data. My question is for
the Office of the Auditor General. You
mention in here that the department should
improve attendance data. I'm wondering: the
way the report is written, why didn’t you
include a recommendation to just simply
improve attendance across Nunavut?
(interpretation) Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Office of the Auditor General. Thank you.
Office of the Auditor General, Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for that question. |
guess we didn’t have a specific
recommendation on improving attendance,
but maybe the culmination of our
recommendations on developing a strategy to
help students transition through high school
and help them be prepared for life after high
school, along with our recommendations on
things such as hands-on learning, which we
have seen as an opportunity to engage and
motivate students to attend school, and also a
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recommendation on ensuring that the human
resource needs of the department through a
strategy on recruiting and retaining teachers
and other positions within the department
that play an important role, supporting
teachers, would, all combined, contribute to
improving supports to students and
ultimately helping improve attendance, put in
place mechanisms or actions that would
motivate students to come to school.

We don’t have a specific recommendation on
improving attendance, but I think that one of
the outcomes or the results of our various
recommendations would contribute to
improving attendance and ultimately
improving students being successful in
graduating from high school and
transitioning on to either post-secondary or
work. Thank you.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Principal McKenzie. Member John Main.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Thank you
for explaining that. On the attendance data,
you say in this report that the quality of the
attendance data is not great. It’s concerning
to read that from where | sit because based
on that attendance data, the Department of
Education is cutting or adding teacher
positions to different communities.

I’ll use Arviat, my home community, as an
example. We had very substantial cuts to our
teacher numbers based on what you point
out, unreliable data. | guess | would like the
Auditor General’s opinion or observations in
terms of the student-educator ratio of the
Department of Education allocating teacher
positions based on this attendance data,
which needs to be improved. (interpretation)
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
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Member. Principal McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Thank you, Hon. Member.
That’s an important question. Certainly
attendance data plays a role in funding. It’s
maybe a policy question whether, for
example, funding should be based on
attendance versus enrolment. We wouldn’t
necessarily come down one side or the other.

| do know that some of the teachers that we
spoke to indicated that although students may
be not attending class, when they do show up
and if they haven’t been included in the
funding formula, they nonetheless require
support like any other students. There were
some concerns that were raised to us or
brought to our attention about using
attendance versus enrolment, for example.
Attendance data would also, I think, help
inform the department regarding other policy
decisions, for example, how successful some
of its programs or actions in terms of
encouraging attendance amongst students.

Just a note, in terms of one of the things that
we noted and it really comes down to data
entry and how individuals in the schools are
entering data, how they’re interpreting
attendance, and so | think that the approach
that the department is taking in terms of
strengthening the training of staff within
schools and ensuring consistency in terms of
how that data is entered will go a long way to
strengthening the reliability of that data.

Just to come back and to conclude, I think, in
terms of the use of attendance data for things
such as funding, we wouldn’t have an
opinion one way or the other because, again,
it gets into a policy question. Nonetheless,
we did want to raise it and we do recommend
it because it is an important statistic, if you
will, an important indicator of the realities
within schools, so hence our
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recommendation. Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Member John Main.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you for that
information. I’m going to ask a similar
question to the Department of Education, and
this is how screwed up things are when you
mention the actual reality on the ground in
the communities. School attendance is very
high at the beginning of the school year. The
first couple of weeks, school attendance is
very high, but because the allocation of
teachers is not based on just those couple of
weeks at the beginning of the school year, so
for those couple of weeks of the school year,
the teachers are swamped and their classes
are way too big and they don’t have enough
teachers if those kids keep showing up.

The sad fact, and this is based on
conversations with people who actually work
in the schools, is that they don’t have enough
staff to keep all those kids in school. If they
keep showing up, they don’t have enough
staff to handle them, and so poor attendance
is kind of baked into the system. The
teachers will say, “Well, it’s just the first
couple weeks. Attendance is going to drop
off. It always does.” And sure enough it
does, and then the number of students to
educators goes down to a reasonable or more
manageable level.

My question for the Department of Education
is: how soon will we see modifications to the
student-educator ratio and how it’s
calculated, specifically to move beyond just
looking at attendance, and give some
thought, give some consideration, and give
some funding to the kids who do not show up
to school because they are still in the
community and they are still requiring
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education? (interpretation) Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Member Main. Department of Education.
Thank you. Ms. MacMillan for the
Department of Education. Ms. MacMillan.
Thank you.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Madam
Chairperson. Thank you for the question.
Currently the department does follow a
cabinet-approved funding formula when
determining the number of teaching staff.
However, we are considering alternate
funding formulas.

In response to the portion of the question
related to the attendance and students and
ensuring that we get those students back into
our schools, that’s where our ten-year
strategic plan and consulting with all of our
partners, stakeholders, communities, and
parents, because to ensure that our students
are in school to receive their education.
Qujannamiik, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. MacMillan. Member John Main.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. (interpretation ends) To
change the student-educator ratio, yes, it
requires a cabinet decision. We have asked
questions to the Minister of Education on this
and, to paraphrase, they were looking at
changing it. I don’t know when it will be
changed. It seems like something that could
be fixed. Is there a timeline that the
Department of Education is working with in
terms of changing that ratio or how it’s
calculated? (interpretation) Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Member Main. Department of Education,
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Ms. MacMillan. Thank you.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Madam
Chairperson. | will get back to you with that
time frame. (interpretation) Thank you.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Member John Main.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) I’ll move on
to a different topic. When it comes to
graduation requirements, in the report it
mentions on page 5, paragraph 20, that
“Nunavut high school students must obtain
100 credits and pass Grade 12 English to
graduate.” I would just like a clarification on
how it’s written there. Does that mean that
grade 12 English is the only course or the
only departmental exam that is mandatory to
pass in order to graduate? I’m just curious
about why grade 12 specifically is mentioned
in that sentence, for the Office of the Auditor
General. (interpretation) Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Member John Main. To the Office of the
Auditor General, Mr. McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. If it’s okay, I would like to ask
Madam Scott to answer the question. Thank
you.

Chairperson: Go ahead, Madam Scott.

Ms. Scott: Thank you, Madam Chairperson.
The paragraph, as worded, indicates that
grade 12 English is required to graduate. As
far as we understand, that is the only grade
12 course that is required to graduate and it
happens to have a diploma exam requirement
attached to it. As we understand, in order to
pass the course, it’s a combination of your
course mark, which makes up 70 percent of
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the grade, and then the diploma mark makes
up 30 percent of the grade to achieve or
obtain your overall mark. That ratio was
changed recently, we understand. It was 50
percent and 50 percent, and it’s now 70-30.

Again, to the other part of the question, are
there other grade 12 courses that are required
for students to take in order to graduate,
based on our review of the secondary school
administration handbook, it’s not a
requirement that a student take a grade 12
math course or a science course or a social
studies course. They are required to take
grades 10 and 11 courses and they have to
get a minimum number of credits in the
various strands, and there are other
requirements which I’'m sure the Department
of Education can speak to more accurately
than me with regard to elective and non-
specified credits, but with regard to those
core areas, such as | said, math and science,
for example, there are no requirements for
any grade 12 courses. Thank you very much,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Scott. Member John Main.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Perhaps the
Department of Education can provide an
explanation on that, (interpretation ends)
when it comes to the departmental exams,
which ones are mandatory to get your grade
12, and just if you could clarify this matter.
(interpretation) Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Member John Main. To the Department of
Education, Ms. MacMillan. Thank you.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Madam
Chairperson. Grade 12 English is a
requirement. (interpretation) Thank you.
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Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you. At
this time in recognizing the clock for lunch,
we will return with Aarluk John Main after
lunch. For your information, we will resume
at 1:30 p.m. Thank you.

>>Committee recessed at 11:55 and
resumed at 13:31

Chairperson: I call the committee meeting
back to order. It’s now 1:30 and before the
break before lunch, we were going to go back
to (interpretation) Member John Main.
(interpretation ends) Please go ahead. Thank
you.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. (interpretation ends) |
know we have a lot more stuff to cover, so
I’ll try to go quickly.

Before lunch | was asking about the
Department of Education about the
graduation requirements, and | was asking
about the standardized grade 12. Well, we
were trying to figure out what exactly was
mandatory to graduate from grade 12. My
understanding is that it’s the only mandatory
standardized exam they have to write is the
grade 12 English, so if the department could
just maybe explain or clarify or correct me,
whatever is appropriate. (interpretation)
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Member Main. Department of Education,
Madam MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Madam
Chairperson. You are correct in that in order
to graduate, students have to write and pass
the grade 12 departmental exam. However, in
order to graduate, students are also required
ten credits in courses of their choice at the
grade 12 level. An additional ten credits at
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the grade 12 level are part of the graduation
requirements. Qujannamiik, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. MacMillan. Going to Member John
Main.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. (interpretation ends) |
have a question for the Office of the Auditor
General. In paragraph 20 it mentions 70
percent of the mark is based on classroom
work, 30 percent on the standardized exam,
and we know that classroom marks tend to be
higher than the actual exam marks. When
you have this weighting, 70 and 30, was the
auditor’s team able to understand or did you
gather any information about why they’re
given 70-30 weighting in terms of the school
system? (interpretation) Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Member Main. Office of the Auditor
General, Mr. McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Qujannamiik, Madam
Chairperson. No, I’'m sorry, we were aware
that the weighting between the classroom
mark and the final exam had been adjusted,
but the rationale behind that was not
something that we pursued. The department
officials may be able to clarify why that type
of adjustment was made, however. Thank
you.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Member John Main.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Maybe the Department
of Education can elaborate or give us
clarification on whether they can adjust it. It
was at 50-50, but they have adjusted it to 70-
30. I would like to know why that was
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changed. Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Member Main. Going back to the
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Madam
Chairperson. | would have to look into the
particulars as to why it was changed several
years back. However, it could be related to
the focus on classroom-based assessment and
the needs of our students. Qujannamiik,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Going back to Member Main.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. She said that she will get back to
us. Is she going to provide us with a written
submission? | also would like to know when
they would provide that information. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Member Main. To go back to the Department
of Education, if Ms. MacMillan can provide
further explanation.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Yes, we can provide a written
submission. (interpretation) Thank you.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. MacMillan. Let’s go back to Member
Main.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. I’ll be moving on to
something else. (interpretation ends) Moving
on, page 15 of the report, I think this is a
very important recommendation. I’'m very
appreciative that the Auditor General’s team
has included it. It’s very clear, “The
Department of Education should...increase
students’ access to opportunities for hands-
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on learning, including work placements or
cooperative education options.” This
recommendation, | believe, is something that
is very in line with Nunavummiut.

A lot of people up here are hands-on
oriented. You have people who don’t have
basic literacy skills, maybe, but they know
how to take apart a snowmobile from top to
bottom and can do things that more literate
people and written material can’t even think
about. It’s pretty clear what the Auditor
General’s office is referring to here. Across
Canada, if we look at, let’s say, Yukon or
other jurisdictions, how important are these
hands-on learning opportunities to learners in
other parts of the country in your
observations or in your knowledge?
(interpretation) Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Member John Main. Going back to the
Office of the Auditor General, Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. My understanding is that there
is certainly interest in offering students
hands-on learning and alternative types of
diplomas for reasons that the Hon. Member
had discussed, that some people have
strengths in areas that may be in reading,
writing, or numeracy whereas others may
have strengths that are more geared towards
hands-on learning.

Just a couple of examples that I’'m aware of,
one for example, in Ontario they offer an
option for students to get a High School
Diploma and they can also get specialized in
certain fields. What | mean by that is it could
be more office oriented, so business, but it
can also be hands-on. If someone wanted to
work in the agricultural sector, for example,
they can take courses that give them
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essentially a head start in terms of going into
a certain field and they will actually get a
certification in addition to their diploma that
indicates that they have experience in this
field, so it facilitates their movement into a
specific area.

I believe, if I’'m not mistaken, Saskatchewan,
as another example, allows students to work
with tradespeople, and it is part of their
course options and they can get credits for
that. Again, it gives them an opportunity to
explore certain fields where, again, it’s more
hands-on as opposed to in-class. I think
again, it’s the view of offering and
recognizing that learners and students have
different strengths and trying to offer courses
that will speak to the strengths of those
individuals and their interests as well.

| think that it is something that is more and
more viewed as an important part of the
curriculum and the learning process. Thank
you.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you, to
Office of the Auditor General. Moving on.
John Main.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. | would then to ask a
question to the Department of Education.
You indicated that... (interpretation ends)
When I see the response to this
recommendation from Auditor General’s
office, I don’t see a lot of language around
action. I see “reviewing”, “considering.” If
we know that this hands-on learning is
beneficial for students and attendance, let’s
do it. Let’s make it happen in the schools
across Nunavut.

My question is: what does the department
need in order to make this happen? Is it
additional funds? Is it additional equipment?
Are there capital requirements that are tied to
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this? 1 would just like to understand what is
standing in the way of seeing this across the
territory in our schools. (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Member John Main. Department of
Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Madam
Chairperson. One of the key items that we
would require is collaboration from our
partners and stakeholders to look at
supporting work experience programs, the
experiential learning, such as various career
camps, looking at the Nunavut Early
Apprenticeship Program, so working with
other departments for that. Qujannamiik,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. MacMillan. Member John Main.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) In terms of the
timeline... . I’1l just leave that alone.

One of the responses here mentions the
Multiple Options Initiative, which the
Department of Education worked on, |
believe, a number of years ago. Each school
was supposed to be able to choose what they
were going to offer in their school, and trades
was one of them, if | understand correctly.
What happened to that initiative? I haven’t
heard a lot about it lately, so I’'m just trying
to understand why the multiple options
doesn’t seem to be an option anymore.
(interpretation) Thank you. (interpretation
ends) That is to the Department of Education.
(interpretation) Thank you.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Member Main. Department of Education,
Ms. MacMillan.
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Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Madam
Chairperson. The Department of Education,
the transition team, is currently looking at
alternate pathways to incorporate that
learning for our students and utilize the
information accordingly. Qujannamiik,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Member John Main.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) What
happened to the Multiple Options Initiative?
Is it alive? Is it dead? Where is it?
(interpretation) Thank you, Madam,
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Madam
Chairperson. Some background for the
Multiple Options; the program was first
offered as a field test pilot in Kugluktuk, and
that required again, additional partnerships in
order to offer that type of programming. So
we will be looking at that through the
transition team at alternate pathways. As for
the Multiple Options Program, | would have
to get details as to why that is no longer
being offered. Qujannamiik, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Member John Main.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you.
Would the department be able to commit to
giving us something in writing in terms of
this Multiple Options Initiative and where it
is at; an update, because it was very
promising. | remember when it was being
rolled out, or started to be rolled out because
theoretically, each school could say “yeah,
we want trades in our school” and,
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theoretically, we could have had it in every
school by now under that initiative The
request is for a written summary or history of
this program. (interpretation) Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Madam
Chairperson. Yes, we can commit to
providing a written summary. Qujannamiik,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you. |
have no other names on my list. We can then
move on in the Auditor General’s report to
pages 15 to 25. The floor is now open for
questions. Mr. Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Madam
Chairman. I have a few questions for Arctic
College. The college provides a number of
adult basic education programs. Can you
provide an overview of the different kinds of
programs that are currently being offered to
adult learners? Thank you, Madam
Chairman.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Alan Rumbolt. Mr. Suvega, for Nunavut
Arctic College.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. There are quite a lot of
different programs that are made available to
adult learners. | would like to refer this to
Rebecca, my assistant. Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Rebecca Mearns.

Ms. Mearns (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. (interpretation ends)
Currently in the 2019-2020 academic year,
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the academic program is available on our
website. As for adult basic education
programs, we have Adult Basic Education
being offered in four communities, as well as
the Get Ready for Employment and Training
being offered in four communities for the fall
term, and then an additional four
communities in the winter term, and. ..

Chairperson: Too fast. You have to be
cognizant of the interpreters. Slow down so
we could keep up.

Ms. Mearns (interpretation): | apologize.
Chairperson: Thank you.

Ms. Mearns (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. | apologize.
(interpretation ends) For the winter term we
also four communities for the Get Ready for
Employment and Training, and then on top
of that, we also have the Adult Basic
Education Essential Skills being offered in a
large number of communities throughout all
regions of the territories.

Just to clarify, the Adult Basic Education is
actually being offered in five communities;
not four. (interpretation) Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you, to
the Nunavut Arctic College. Mr. Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Again, my next question is for
the Nunavut Arctic College. The audit
examined whether adult learners had access
to adult basic education core programs.
Paragraph 77 of the audit report shows that
adult learners in many communities had very
limited access to these core programs, which
resulted in them being unable to upgrade
their academic skills and qualify for more
advanced programs, which could lead to
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career and employment.

Can you describe some of the factors which
led to the lack of adult basic education core
programs being delivered in Nunavut’s
communities? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Member Alan Rumbolt. Nunavut Arctic
College, Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. (interpretation ends)
Thank you for that question. There are a
variety of factors to consider on some of the
program limitations.

As | joined the college, | started spending a
bit more time in some of the community
learning centres, the different campuses; not
just as staff. We also spent time with the
board of governors in some of these
communities as well to try and assess some
of the needs and some of the challenges, but
to also see what may actually be working for
some of these community centres or
campuses, and not specifically just adult
programs.

Some of the things that we were seeing, and
certainly I saw it firsthand, were just some of
the age of the infrastructure. Some of it was
physical limitations; some of it may have
been size, building, and even the equipment.
We saw things like computer service, sitting
inside very dusty closets, and some of those
service were quite old.

So we are taking a whole systemic look at
what some of the limitations are; whether it
is physical, software, money, partners, and
what are the community needs? All of that is
factored into how does the college adjust and
better align itself to deliver the programming
to meet the needs of the communities? This
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IS an ongoing process.

Just like the Auditor General said, these
plans are meant to be a living document, so
it’s meant to be adjusted annually, based on
the needs of individual communities trying to
engage with them and identify certain areas
that they may want to spend time on, whether
it is mining, nursing, teaching, or sciences.
Thank you. (interpretation) Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairman (Mr. Main)(interpretation): Thank
you. Mr. Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
On page 21 of the audit, section 81, the
Auditor General talked about factors that
affect the college’s ability to provide its core
programs in communities. As you just stated,
and as they state in here, limited space in
some community learning centres are a
factor, and | know in a lot of communities
they only have one-room classrooms, so just
to get a feel of the extent of the issue, how
many communities in Nunavut have limited
space available for their core programs?
Thank you.

Mr. Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Nunavut Arctic College, Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. We
are currently doing an assessment by
community as well. One is on programs, and
we have another one on the physical
assessment of community learning centres. |
hope to be able to provide a better update, so
| will take that question for now and commit
to providing a more detailed response later.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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With this assessment for your buildings and
whatnot, | know you said you would get back
to us later, but at what stage is it right now?
When can we anticipate seeing an actual
assessment report put forward to us? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Suvega.

Mr. Suvega: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thanks for that question. We would like to
try and get it to the Assembly as quickly as
possible. Given just kind of the size of the
task and the scale and the scope some of the
things we are looking at, it won’t be a very
speedy response. Some of these things are
items that we’re trying to plan ahead for,
whether it is to make recommendations
through the capital planning process or items
we may have to adjust in our business
planning processes.

All of this is going to be driven by some of
the factors we find and put into things like
our 10-year strategic plans, our five year
academic plans, and the intent, by and large,
is to ensure that all of this information is
brought to the surface so that all key
stakeholders and decision-makers are aware
of all of the different factors that go into
determining how best to realign some of the
programs, what resources do we need, and in
some cases we know we are not going to be
able to have all of the resources in the
territory, so we have actively reached out to
other partners like CICan, Colleges and
Institutes Canada, to help us do some of
those assessments to see what resources
could we perhaps try and go after outside of
the territory. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Mr. Suvega, you
mentioned that it would be a while until we
will see anything from you in terms of the
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community learning centres. Would the
Arctic College be able to prepare a summary
for members and I’m thinking of a basic
summary that lists the community learning
centres in each community, the age of the
facility, the number of classrooms, square
footage, and any other relevant information?
Would you be able to provide something like
that to the committee in the short-term? Mr.
Suvega.

Mr. Suvega: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Certainly, we would be pleased to provide a
summary. We also actively work with other
departments and agencies like Community
and Government Services when we try to
conduct some of these assessments. We also
try to engage and reach out with departments
like Finance as we try and look to build
future options to introducing this into things
like long-term capital planning.

We would like to try and aim for some time
this winter, perhaps in the next sitting to
present some of this information in the
summary format. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) You said you would like
to aim for... . I’'m going to have to ask for a
firm commitment from you on that. Can you
commit to providing it to the members for
the upcoming winter sitting? Oh, you said
winter sitting. Fall sitting? Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Yes, (interpretation ends) fall
sitting, not winter sitting. In the next sitting
we would like to try and at least present in
summary format what some of the things are
we are finding by working with partners like
Community and Government Services.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) We’ll take it.
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(interpretation) Thank you. Ms. Kamingoak.

Ms. Kamingoak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My question is going to be directed to the
Auditor General. In paragraph 3, it states in
there “Under Article 23 of the agreement, the
Government of Nunavut is required to
increase Inuit participation in government
employment to a representative level of 85%.
As of 30 September 2018, Inuit made up
about 50% of the Government of Nunavut’s
3,500 employees; almost 1,500 additional
positions were vacant. Typically, these
vacant positions required at least a high
school diploma or some form of post-
secondary education.”

My question is: did you audit conduct any
analysis comparing the types of post-
secondary qualifications required to fill
vacant Government of Nunavut positions
with the types of post-secondary programs
currently being offered at the Nunavut Arctic
College? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Office of the Auditor General, Ms. Scott.

Ms. Scott: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. With
regard to the qualifications required for
public sector positions within the
Government of Nunavut, we did not analyze
those in detail. We are aware that a very
detailed labour market analysis was recently
conducted for Nunavut. It was conducted by
Economic and Social Development Canada
in conjunction and with input from NTI and
the Government of Nunavut, and it’s a 1000
page document that incorporates all, I would
say the most recent data, based on surveys of
government employees, private sector, the
latest 2016 census, and it has a really
exhaustive review of the types of positions in
the government and the types of
qualifications that are required.
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We did not do an exhaustive comparison. We
do know that some of the, at least... . The
labour market analysis does highlight that
some of the issues of which there is key
demand are related to the healthcare field,
office administration, overall management,
and as | understand it, science-based
positions.

With regard to the Nunavut Arctic College,
and of course Education, | have neglected to
mention Education; so Nunavut Arctic
College, as we know, is offering the Nunavut
Teacher Education Program, Pre-Nursing and
the full RN Nursing. Whether they are
addressing all of the needs of the
government, that is something probably that
you may wish to direct that question more
specifically to the college. Thank you very
much.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Kamingoak.

Ms. Kamingoak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I will direct my question to Arctic College.
In paragraph 3, what steps are being taken to
ensure that Nunavut Arctic College’s
program offerings match the education
training requirements of vacant jobs within
the government employment sector as
government and industry? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for asking that
question. Nunavut Arctic College has put in a
lot of effort each year. (interpretation ends)
We strive to fill positions actively and have
worked actively with all HR personnel, not
just at the college, but also with the
department of HR.
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We have been plugging away at identifying a
lot of the long-term vacancies, term
instructive positions, long-term casuals, and
have also tried to be strategic in how we fill
some of the critical areas. We report
regularly through the Department of Human
Resources to continue to track, monitor, and
actively implement Inuit employment plans.

As we work diligently with our HR teams, by
March 31, the college was sitting at about 51
percent; by this fall, by August 31, we were
at about 55 percent, which is a 4 percent
increase in Inuit employment.

It is not just getting the Inuit employees into
positions; it is also ensuring that they have a
good track of supports and have available a
sweep of options for things like support,
professional development, and other
opportunities, whether it is inside or outside
of the college. For example, as we are going
through the hiring process of getting a new
chief financial officer, one of the questions |
posed was: if a person is coming in, would
they be willing to mentor young Inuit that are
potential leaders to take over their positions?
It is strategically trying to look at: how do we
bring the individuals in and provide a support
base going forward for them?

It is not just fill job. How do we fill a support
piece for them going forward? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My first questions are for the Nunavut Arctic
College, and it is in reference to paragraph 80
where the Office of the Auditor General
findings indicated that the college only offers
courses Monday to Friday during the fall and
the winter semesters, indicating that there are
no evening, weekend or summer courses
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provided at the college.

I do recall that the college, only a few short
years ago, was offering evening and weekend
courses but | would like to ask the college:
when did the college stop offering those part-
time courses and why? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Nunavut Arctic College, Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Thank you
for that question. It is hard to determine
when the college stopped offering some of
those night and evening courses, and a
variety of factors could include things like
funding, different program partners that have
kind of shifted or changed over time, access
to resources, the physical limitations of the
building, like maybe it’s size, maybe stage
and condition of the building, faculty, access
to staff and support staff for faculty; those
sorts of things.

Though they are not currently available, | say
yet, it is something we would like to actively
explore for all community learning centres
and campuses as we look to grow and
develop programming throughout the
college. We are actively looking with
partners like Memorial University, other
colleges throughout Canada, Inuit
organizations. Some of that happens in
pockets, and it’s also community driven. So
there may be a safety aspect in a community
where they want to learn more about things
like first aid, eco-tourism, cruise ship
opportunities and those sorts of things.

For the most part we are trying to ensure we
are providing the space open to the
community, so though it may not necessarily
be a college driven program, we are trying to
ensure that we are also being complementary
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to communities that are coming up with their
own initiatives too.

It’s a combination of us trying to determine
how much resources we need to allocate to
keep the lights on, keep it staffed, and make
sure it meets standards, and also meet the
growing needs of communities depending on
programs. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
just want to point out that it is quite
unfortunate that our facilities are empty
throughout the majority of the year;
evenings, weekends, and summer.

With that being said, across Canada in most
other colleges, they are heavily reliant on
part-time staff to accommodate evening and
weekend courses. So | would like to ask if
the college is looking into what sort of
specialists that reside in our communities that
would be available to provide part-time
employment or teaching to enable the Arctic
College campuses to offer such
programming. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. One of the early areas we are
exploring is aspects around youth. All
campuses, all community learning centres,
are geared to be family friendly and
obviously we are kind of centered towards
aiming at programs around youth or families.

Things like actual camps are an easy one.

Things for learning camps, language camps;
some of those options we are exploring now.
One that I contacted about recently was from
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CPA Canada where they are interested in
doing something at the college, and it may
involve evening or weekend courses, or even
just providing information generally to the
public. I didn’t want it to just be “Oh we’d
like to provide this at this campus or this
campus.” If it’s an offering I would like to
ensure that it is generally available to all of
college community, particularly the
communities that don’t necessarily have
access to all of these resources. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Mr. Suvega, if you
could just, for the benefit of the official
record, spell out or explain CPA Canada. Mr.
Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. | apologize. Yes, they are
(interpretation ends) Certified Professional
Accountants Association of Canada reached
out to me recently to see if they could
explore partnering opportunities with the
college. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
would like to follow-up on the theme of part-
time and evening courses, but my questions
will be directed to the Department of Family
Services. | would like to ask: specifically
what sort of funding is available to
Nunavummiut that wish to take part-time
courses? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Family Services, Ms. Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) The majority
of student funding would go to full-time
students, however, we have been examining
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how we can arrange for part-time. Perhaps
my director of career development can
expand on some of that planning process.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Clift.

Mr. Clift: Ma’na, Mr. Chairman.
Historically we have focused on those people
who are unemployed and able to commit
themselves to a full-time course of study to
move from unemployment to employment.
What we have been noticing in recent years
is that we are giving less take-up on that
because people are getting part-time
employment, or there are family
responsibilities, and we’re getting a lot more
requests for part-time support than we had in
the past.

With respect to the FANS program, we are
limited by the legislation, but we have as a
part of our FANS review, we have identified
this short coming and we have proposed
some ideas, but we will eventually go to
cabinet.

With respect to ALTS, we have a little more
flexibility and we’re looking in part, driven
by the Auditor General’s report, at our
overall ALTS funding policy. Certainly our
intention is to provide more part-time
opportunities precisely because in some
cases, people need one or two courses; they
don’t need full-time, and that will give them
the transition to work. In the past we have
been rather narrow in our view that people
should be able to commit full-time to a
course of study leading them to work, but
that doesn’t work for everybody.

In that respect, just this year we have
increased our funding commitment to the
Nunavut Literacy Council recognizing that
their short six week programs, which
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traditionally we wouldn’t have funded,
actually we’re doing a great job in improving
literacy skills and also promoting work skills
and traditional skills.

In the context of finding a way for people to
find their path to literacy, we made a
significant increase in our funding to the
Literacy Council this year. Ma 'na, Mr.
Speaker.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. | just
want to clarify I am not the Speaker. Our
fellow member, Mr. Mikkungwak from
Baker Lake, is the Speaker, if he is watching.
Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
would like to move onto my next line of
questioning and it is in relation to paragraph
94, and specifically the college’s response. In
the college’s response, the first sentence
states that “During the 2018-2019 academic
year, the Nunavut Arctic College moved up
the schedule of community assessments,
which are reports annually collected by
College staff in communities...” I was
wondering if the college would be able to
provide a little bit more detail about what
exactly it means by “moving up the schedule
of community assessments”. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) In some of
the assessments, when we are considering
them to try and drive some programming
change, if a need is arising from a
community, or if we suspect numbers are
starting to shrink in the community for
whatever reason, we’d like to try and get to
the root cause of some of those. Sometimes
that may be one of the reasons that an
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assessment could be moved up to try to
hedge ahead of something.

Nursing and teaching were kind of two areas
we are keeping a close eye on as numbers
either suddenly increase or suddenly
decrease. We are also trying to ensure that
there is good support for other programs. We
are not just hyper-focusing on one area or
one program. We are trying to ensure that all
options are available to community members
and potential learners. (interpretation) Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
would like to follow up on that. In the
second paragraph of the college’s response, it
indicates that the college also recognizes a
need for more quantitative information to
play a role in determining the program
deliveries. I would like to ask if the college
would be able to elaborate a bit more on that
as well. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Suvega.

Mr. Suvega: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. For
the student information system, as we are
assessing it to see the effectiveness of how
well it is working and how well it is not, we
are finding that the systems or the different
programs did not really do well at talking to
each other so we had different parts of the
college that had different bits of information
that couldn’t really be collected well or all at
one time, in a short amount of time. The
issue of data collection and data management
in a timely and efficient manner is something
we zeroed in on right away.

We are also asking some of our partners, like
Memorial University, to examine some of
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their best practices on how to deal with data-
management, student information systems,
costs, support, and not just support for the
staff, but also support for things like the
faculty that may need to feed in information
on program information, and at the same
time, try to ensure that the data being capture
is being captured accurately. You might have
a temporary student entering a six month
program, and another student entering a four-
year program and they might be recorded the
same way. Those are the sorts of things we
are trying to improve going forward.

We look forward to seeing what
improvements can be made in the short term,
and at the same time, given some of the
technical challenges and some of them might
be monetary depending on what we find in
conjunction with our work with Community
and Government Services, maybe even other
departments, on how our data and
information might feed into other parts of
government programs and services.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
would like to move on to my next line of
questioning, and my next questions will be
for the Office of the Auditor General.

As being indicated, Family Service offers
two types of funding available to post-
secondary students; one being FANS, and the
other being ALTS. | was curious: do other
jurisdictions across Canada have two
different types of streams of funding for
students? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Office of the Auditor General, Ms. Scott.

Ms. Scott: Thank you very much, Mr.
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Chairman. We did some benchmarking. We
were looking at other jurisdictions and
financial supports. I don’t think we directly
asked the question, “How many programs
were offered in each jurisdiction?” I think it
is fair to say that most jurisdictions have a
program that is very targeted to supporting
students and learners who wish to enter into
post-secondary education.

| think there are also a series of labour
market agreements between the various
jurisdictions and the federal government that
allow for funding for other programs, and |
think that the Department of Family Services
would be more equipped to answer that
question.

Whether there are other types of supports; |
think there are a variety. | actually recently,
in preparation for this hearing, was looking at
some other kinds of supports and are there
programs that specifically support
individuals, assist them with living expenses
for example, if they wish to take adult basic
upgrading. It’s not employment related but
that would be leading them to or furthering
their ability to take other education. | did
discover that there are a couple of
jurisdictions, including Alberta and
Saskatchewan, for example, that have a
variant, | think, of what is offered in
Nunavut.

| did not do an exhaustive jurisdictional scan
of all of those programs and how many
variants there are, but again, | think Family
Services likely is... and I think that Mr. Clift
actually referred to a jurisdictional scan, if
I’m not mistaken. Please correct me if I’'m
wrong, Mr. Clift. Alright, thank you very
much, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I’1l give Family
Services a chance to respond on that topic.
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Which representative would like to respond?
Mr. CIift.

Mr. Clift: Ma 'na, Mr. Chairman. In general,
broadly speaking, there are different pots of
money. Quebec may be the outlier on this
one, but with respect to all the other
Canadian jurisdictions there is a funding
program for post-secondary education, and
that is given in part by requirements from the
federal government for funding it provides
for student financial assistance. What has
happened is the provinces build on top of
that, and for the original Canada Student
Loans Program, it was very clearly for post-
secondary education, and so that is how that
developed.

It is also the case for us because although we
are not part of the Canada Student Loans
Program, we do receive funding from the
federal government to operate FANS and
part of the criteria is that money is for post-
secondary education.

Every jurisdiction in Canada, again Quebec
being the outlier, also receives money from
the federal government for labour market
programs of one type or another. It is up to
the jurisdictions, just as in our case, about the
best way to spend that money. In general,
other jurisdictions tend to have multiple
programs targeting specific types of learners
or industries. What we’ve been trying to do

is move towards a general program. That is
why we have ALTS. So rather than say we’re
only going to provide funding for someone to
study in this field, basically anything that
leads to employment, we’ll fund through
ALTS.

With the possible exception of Quebec and
NWT, the other jurisdictions tend to not have
that flexibility. They tend to be much more
targeted in light of what the political
priorities would be of the government of the

Pc=c ONMNJO): SdY*al™®, AbYRPCSS,
alcl<or <pfesPege Pa ProCsb>seC
d<A® CAPI <APYD>REC AT H<C
AP baCl <ASD®/L<o

o PARC>ILADYT? LRLSbSAD>Ya®

Pa D>LbNCNSHECIAC

PPN SAC<IPNNG®, NOPCC>C SPLYAC
LRLIHd* 0t IDA%aPASHECSIN/LLLC
PPN <o 0¢ <L > ba CP<
AAD® Lo o¢
ACPQBCP>SHECSbILCCdE Jc CIBRSAL_C
DGLLLC PabbC asa ASCDALc.nAC,

>RUc Ac P> 5%DJC ba Cl
<D®DSAD>BC®D 0¢ Ao <IN of
LRLISbed*o PaLeC<bbeC
FANS—-cn.’<YN"\N*o®° Ac®od*NoC
JG:LNo?t PabbenvN\Neo.

baCl LLSbScLeN<e

d<AYY+ NI 5o ASHECTRAS PaPbba®
LRLDSbEd*a AStba ArnD>eNNCNJIN Ko
QLLECPe CLed<de LRLSHSADYAC AALSeAAc
Sb.o%® Pabblob IDSo<SL LMo, <P N>
LRLSHSA>LE IC>D>ECOl

DA% SbAYPLTYAC rafesned ot
NaAD>Y0C Acto<dPLY0C CALY =R
A*a5.0¢ DG Lot PaDlo®
AbSNNSbsbeC AP UC. Sb.oDA*a CNse
Aba Ab_|€ DGPeq sehe C<2a
PaDLbseNJ*a eCDC.

d<Ab <NPLDEY P 5% Do 0a PSS
AYEPec o PACDILADYATCE P
AAL®AR NN AYSPLLC ASA DML
ASba A€ DG Dot PP<lo
PaD>Lsb®NCNAYLC LRLYMNC, Sdhal™,

AP RS,

91



day. Ma na, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): And I thank you
as well. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
only have a few more questions and the last
ones are for the Department of Family
Services.

I would like to ask a few questions about the
Department of Family Services’ opening
comments, and particularly in the second last
sentence, it states that “The Department is
committed to strengthening our support for
Nunavut students and adult learners and
ensuring that a lack of finances does not pose
a barrier to post-secondary education.”

While in the second paragraph it also states
that offering financial assistance is meant to
help offset the costs associated with pursuing
post-secondary education. | see two
conflicting statements here.

Family Services and FANS is intended to
ensure that finance is not a barrier, yet FANS
only offers partial assistance to offset the
costs. So | would like to ask the department
to explain those two comments. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) As Robert
Clift had mentioned before, we are limited by
the legislation in place. With FANS in
particular, we recognize that there are areas
of funding that could be improved and with
hopes through the annual business case
process, the funding process; that we’ll have
some increases. You, yourself, would be
particularly interested to know the top two
areas are ones that you have mentioned in the

AP/ XPCSe (DNNNUO): SdY*a P, C
CASYD®,

CASYDe (ORNNJO): Sdb*al®, AbYRPCSe,
ACD>YEPON GASINSNSHSTLLEC>Se
Aocnnbdo ST Py oNC,

AA®INDPLLL Aocnabd® of
LOASZJNPSeb>L e gt DSh>IY g,
PO SN, Db L
NNGILL*L, Aocnaedybds
QYPSeYLgSh®IC Ner P NCNP<IPLE 5 NP
Ab¥SJan QMg Ac®o<d*Na

A*Q 505 Ach<.of Cbdd
PaDLSHe P <S> N I>PCPC>SdaNC
Ac®oolC.

dAKo NNSSe/LLo DSbSe/LNe o
<ADA*abiT® Pabbo®b Abd/<ho
DPsh®I® qPPegi>o<sLC

P OBNSACLSA®PbC Ao <PN*NC
APPgN D¢ S+ C.

Cbd<d APGHIbNNOL*LNE Ao nAbdC
FANS-dNJS Ac®o <% Pa P>y i+ NJc
SH>ALCNKGACCSed Pa LT

05b LR Lo SSLALC <L
CRRNA%Q S <DA%a PNNAYNP NP

Ac A% Mg Pa DLeIsan Ly eC o
Acta<eND<. AANJLRLR~*b A ocnrbdS,
Cbdd DobbncN<sdeoNe

QDA A®CPCNSIE DN ALS CALd
D>sbso/LLL*LC? Sdyeal™®, Ab/RDCSe,

Ab/RPCSe: Sdbeqf® M aAd.

aAJ OLNMNJO): Sd>al®, AbYRPCSe, G>C
PC=C PSbSeBDLLC I>®CPNDA*a AT LEC
LclSo® <Gp/L<do. Cbdd Aceo<sNo¢
PCEIBNAS 0 Ao <D ot Pa PLAC
ACSAALEDC Pa LN GoPPBC>ANNEC
QSGJCLE SPrspy>N=HNC PaPYAC

QYL PQBC>EBIAC <L
DNPLULY < AT NECDSe LSPe Cedd
SdcNae<e D>/ bbb
D>Sb>/NSHCCHILLP A< 51C AbJINC 4*MSG
AbINC QLLECPSe Aceo<IPNN*N of
>SbcLU®CPN NN of AbJINC

92



past. The housing allowance component as
well as the tuition fees and books are a major
part of where we hope to increase our
funding. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank the official for that response and I'm
really grateful to hear that because | see
ourselves to be in a very unique situation
where we have the potential to offer full
support to completely cover tuition and
books for those wishing to pursue post-
secondary education. It’s only a matter of the
will of the government to do so. Given the
statements that the department is looking to
work with Inuit organizations and other
stakeholders to align programming and
objectives, | definitely see this as something
that is achievable.

My last question for the Department of
Family Services is in relation to the FANS
budget. ’'m curious: what percentage of the
FANS budget is utilized every year? Is the
FANS budget used up, is there a surplus, or
does it go into a deficit from year to year?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) | believe there are
reports available, but nothing in a detailed
manner. It’s just aggregate, so it’s a good
question. Ms. Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) We are
almost always very close to it, especially in
more recent years, but the director of career
development can give a little more, or
something closer to the level of detail I think
you’re asking. (interpretation) Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.

Mr. Clift: Ma 'na, Mr. Chairman. We’ll
provide the exact numbers for you. I’ll get
them done up tomorrow and then we’ll have
them sent over.

This past fiscal year we are about $200,000
under spent. The previous fiscal years | recall
we were about $200,000 overspent. The
numbers are very close. In fact, that
$200,000 we underspent last year, had we
funded 10 more students, we would have
used it up. So that is certainly something that
we have identified in the business case
process, is that we are very close to our
capacity on the overall budget at this point.

The overall budget is $7 million annually,
and that has been the case for several years
now. I’ll just add that we fund everybody
who is eligible. We don’t turn anybody as the
legislation requires us to fund people who are
eligible. We don’t turn away anybody, nor do
we limit their reimbursement because we run
out of budget. If we go over budget, we go
cap in hand to FMB and then hope that they
will fund it for us in those years that we are
over. Ma’na, Mr. Speaker... Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): That’s alright.
It’s good. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thanks again for that response. | do
appreciate receiving that information. I just
have one last request; when you do provide
us with that detail, if you would ensure it is
broken down in tuition books, travel, living
allowance and grants. That is all. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Ma 'na. | will give the
department a chance to commit to that. Ms.
Niego.
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Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. We can commit to that. Thank
you, Iksivautaag.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Continuing on, Mr. Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. How was | going to word my
question?

To the Nunavut Arctic College, in paragraph
69 of the report, it states that in looking at the
last five years, and | am sure you mentioned
some of this earlier, but I would like to ask a
question. For the past five years, the college
did not offer its core (interpretation ends)
adult basic-education, ABE (interpretation)
programming. In reading the report from the
Auditor General, almost 70 percent of
Nunavut communities, and there are 25
communities, 70 percent of them did not
have adult basic-education programs. This
was mentioned a number of times as to why
this is the case. Can you please explain why
this is the case? | know you mentioned this
as part of your answers, but I would like to
hear your explanation as to why this is the
case. Thank you, Mr. Speaker.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for asking that
question. Some of the reasons are budgets as
sometimes it does not fit in the budget. For
example, money from the federal
government departments, we want to work
more with them and other colleges in the
arctic to come up with agreements, to not
change the funding and also to add to the
funding that is given to the Arctic Colleges.

Colleges in the Arctic will be working
together to try to get more. Working with the
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other universities and colleges, we try to
work more with Inuit organizations. That is
running very well right now, and it is
becoming stronger all the time. Where we
both consider certain matters, and partner on
certain things. If we can add to those
partnerships, things can get a lot stronger.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. That is very interesting to hear.
I’1l just proceed with my other comments.
There are 25 communities and | am sure, for
example, most of them, if not all of the
communities have Arctic College learning
centres. Do all communities have arctic
colleges? For example, you indicated that the
college did not offer its core adult basic-
education program in almost 70 percent of
the communities. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Yes, most of the programs that are
provided are basically the same and we have
to work closely together with the government
departments. For example, if there is a new
program that is going to be provided in the
fall at the college, we make sure that we have
the adequate staff and we also make sure that
we work together with the different entities
in that particular community. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman, and thank you for your response.

I would like to direct my question to the
Department of Family Services, and | will
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ask my question in English.

(interpretation ends) A number of reports and
studies have noted that learners taking core
adult basic education programs are not
eligible for funding support. Can you
describe what consideration has been given
to assessing funding support specifically for
adult learners who want to develop their core
literacy and other basic academic skills?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) There are a
few barriers; one would be between the
college as well as independent third parties. |
know I’ve had the two departments; the
college and Family Services, have had
discussions. There is a space issue. Whether
we’re funding a third-party who needs space
in the community and they rely on the
college; that can be an issue, to increasing the
number of programs available in the
community. More specifically on the
INAUDIBLE funding towards the adult
learners, | will rely on my director of career
development. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. I’'m
not the Speaker. Mr. Clift.

Mr. Clift: Ma’na, Mr. Chairman. The
funding that we are provided for adult
training, non-post-secondary adult training,
as | said earlier, traditionally has been
focused on full-time programs. There is
presently a... what’s the best way to put it?
There is a bit of a policy gap about who is
responsible for literacy in the territory. There
is certainly a component to the college’s
involvement, the Department of Education,
and ourselves.
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I do know that, as mentioned in the Auditor
General’s report, there was a review done of
the Adult Learning Strategy, and the issue of
literacy and who supports it is one of those
issues that will be discussed when that
review is released.

For our part, as | mentioned earlier, we are
looking at what we can do to provide
individual support for part-time students. It’s
unlikely we can provide them with living
allowances, but it may be possible for us to
pay the tuition and book fees, for example,
and that is what we are looking at. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Before we move on, just
to follow-up on Mr. Quassa’s line of
questioning, for the college, when it comes to
your ABE programs in any given year, how
many of those programs are taught by the
adult educator in a community and how
many of those programs are taught by an
instructor that you’ve had to go out and hire?
I hope that question is clear. Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
don’t have that detail of information here. I
would be pleased to provide that in writing as
a follow-up, shortly. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you for
committing to provide that. The reason | ask
that is it is my understanding that the adult
educator in a community often, that is part of
their job duties, is they do the adult basic
education part. I’'m just interested to see if
that’s the case across the territory or not. Mr.
Suvega, could you maybe enlighten us: when
it comes to the adult educators, is offering or
teaching adult basic education part of their
job normally? Mr. Suvega.
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Mr. Suvega: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
While there’s a wide range of programs
delivered college-wide, I think, within the
college community | want to point out that
everyone tends to help each other out,
whether it’s in their job description or not.
Over the years | have known individuals in
communities that have willingly helped out
in trying to fill some of the gaps as they try
to provide services to their communities.

We’re very fortunate we have a strong
college community that has a number of
committed individuals who have been there
for a long time. I’'m very lucky to be working
with these individuals across the territory,
but that’s not the point. I mean if they’re
doing this on top of what they’re doing as
part of their day job. Part of the challenge
and the onus for us is to ensure that we’re
looking at the data, the information, and
programs to make sure we have the resources
and, let’s say for example, staff for faculty in
place to ensure that that’s not happening.

I don’t have a complete answer on how many
structures versus how many adult educators
are doing that right now. We try to avoid that
as much as we can, but in another way we’re
also very fortunate to have a college
community that really comes together as a
community. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for recognizing me
again. 1 would like to make a supplement in
regard to the people who are interested in
taking the Adult Basic Education Program. It
was touched upon a little earlier. They are
not provided financial support and that’s part
of the reason why some people leave the
program without completing it. That’s part of
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the problem and one of the challenges for the
students.

(interpretation ends) For the Department of
Family Services, again, | think we have
brought this up over and over, but lack of
financial support for our adult learners who
wish to enrol into the adult basic education
core programs has been long identified as a
barrier to improving academic abilities and
increasing employment opportunities. Can
you be a little bit more specific as to what
steps have been taken to explore options to
access and provide additional funding to
adult learners, especially those taking core
programs and literacy courses in order that
all adult learners can be supported as they
transition to post-secondary education and
employment? (interpretation) That’s my final
question. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Thank you
for that question. Right now the priority is to
complete the FANS transfer as well as the
increase in FANS funding. Once | have
departmental resources more available for the
Adult Learning and Training Supports, we
can dedicate more time towards that.

There are other funding possibilities through
the department. However, for example,
through income assistance, | do not have
details on that with me here today, but with
the plans I believe we have got an idea of
what is required. Once the FANS project is
nearing completion, then we will concentrate
on adult learning and training.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you as
well. Continuing onwards, Ms. Angnakak.
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Ms. Angnakak (interpretation): Thank you,
Chairman. | was going to ask a question
earlier, but it was already asked.

| have a question about the Nunavut Arctic
Colleges in the communities. Do the students
have the option to take any programs, or can
they identify what they are interested in and
what types programs they would like to see
in the communities? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Nunavut Arctic College, Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you,
Chairman. Thank you for asking that
question. Yes, we do get approached and
people identify what they are interest in, and
if they are not approached, it’s possibly
because they have limited resources. There is
probably not enough information going out
to the communities, but we are getting
approached and we also have a close working
relationship with the Inuit organizations
because of course you have to collaborate
with the other entities, with the other
different government departments. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you as
well. Ms. Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak (interpretation): Thank you,
Chairman. Thank you for your response. The
programs that are made available in the
communities, we also have to focus on
employment requirements. For example,
there is going to be an elders centre that will
be built in Nunavut and they will need
human resources that are educated in that
field. The elders centre is not built yet, but |
think it is time that we set up the program so
that we will have the human resources
available. Do you plan ahead and do you
work with the government and have a dialog
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about job opportunities?

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Nunavut Arctic College, Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you,
Chairman. Yes. We try to plan ahead, for
example, with the elders centre and the
human resources that will need to be made
available. We also look at the mining sector
and nursing programs. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you as
well. Ms. Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you, Chairman.
Similarly to that, course selection, | would
like to ask: how does the college go about
measuring whether or not their courses have
been delivered successfully, because you can
even have graduates, but, sometimes the
graduates are not trained. How does the
college go about ensuing that their courses
are up to par and that the people that are
graduating are graduating with the
knowledge and the skills needed to graduate
from that course? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Nunavut Arctic College, Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you,
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Thank you
for asking that question. It all starts with
designations and accreditations. Being the
designated post-secondary institution for the
territory, we do try to ensure that we’re
meeting not just territorial standards, but also
national standards so that our students, our
learners, when they graduate or when they
complete something, that their education is
not just credible in the territory. They can
take their credits nationally anywhere and
those credits will be recognized as having
been obtained in their field of study.
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I can give two, maybe three good examples:
some on nursing, where they are in high
demand and they go almost directly into their
fields; education, certainly. | saw it on my
last two convocations where a majority of the
learners that were graduating either already
had a job identified or were just in the tail
end of getting confirmation that they were
getting a job.

Environmental technology has run
successfully over 30 years in the territory. |
know that a majority of the graduates are
highly sought even before they finish the
program, so there are already great signs of
success, but we should keep an eye on some
of the other areas as well to ensure that all
fields are being treated equally and that we
provide support to all learners. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Speaker. For people complete the
programs, do know what percentage of
people who do complete them? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Suvega.

Mr. Suvega: We would be happy to provide
a more detailed breakdown on the numbers,
following the completion of this hearing,
likely in the next week or so. | want to ensure
we are accurate on the numbers to ensure that
we’re capturing all of the graduates or those
that may need to go onto another program.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.
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Ms. Angnakak (interpretation): Thank you.
Also, if you could also add the information
for individuals who have not completed their
programs as well and why they didn’t
complete them, or why they stopped
attending the program. We would like to
have that information so we can get more
clarification on that.

For the (interpretation ends) ABE core and
essential courses, we have talked a lot about
that today and | just want to add my voice
that I really feel that it should be something
that is delivered in the communities
automatically, maybe for the next 20 years.
We have a lot of people that | think are stuck.
Some haven’t gone to school, some have but
are on the very low grades and are
embarrassed to go and seek that themselves,
and | think it would help if the college
always had those courses being offered and
people get more comfortable about attending.

| think that the college, with regard to their
approach to potential students, sometimes |
feel that the college, and not just the college;
other government entities too, even Family
Services and Housing, when we’re dealing
with people who have no education and no
jobs, their self-esteem is pretty low, and |
feel like the college needs to come out of the
college. I'm talking about Iqaluit especially
because I don’t know how it really is with
the other communities, but sometimes when
you just go have coffee down at NorthMart,
there are a lot of people there; there are a lot
of young people there who want to do
something but they don’t know what. Going
to the college institution is a very
intimidating thing for them to do.

I’ve said this even to the housing
corporation; “It would be great if you come
down to the NorthMart. Come and have
coffee. Talk with some people. You can hand
out your flyers and say “Look, there are great
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opportunities for you.” And to tell them that
they would be welcomed. Just the
encouragement, everybody needs that, and |
think that this would be very beneficial if the
government can do that a little bit more.
There are other common areas too that could
be approached, I think.

I would like to talk now, if I may, about how
the college works with Family Services in
getting young Nunavummiut off of income
support because as soon as you turn the age
where you can get income support, it’s
almost like an automatic thing, they can go
apply for their income support. | understand
why people do that. If you don’t have
anything else, well that is what you’re going
to do, especially when we have low
employment opportunities in a lot of our
communities.

There are other things that could be done,
and I’m just wondering: what is your
outreach? How do the two departments work
together when it comes to income support?
My question, I don’t know, either one can
answer, or both can answer. | just want to
know: is this a topic that you discuss? Is
there a plan? Do you think about in the
community we have so many people on
income support, how can the college and
Family Services work together so that we can
get people maybe into business or other
things? | would be interested to hear your
response. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I guess we will go to the
college first in terms of your response to that
question and how you work with Family
Services. Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for that question. Mr. Clift did
mention a little bit of that yesterday where it
is very much community and individual
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driven, and though we are getting better at
talking to each other between the two
agencies, we do have a lot of room for
improvement and how we provide better co-
support, whether it is an income support
recipient or a learner.

| think we did a few things this summer and
even this fall to kind of strengthen some of
that bridge as we co-support on how people
are able to better access not just funding, but
programs and services from the college or
from other parts of government. I think we’re
finding different ways to see how that can
improve. A lot of that is going to depend on
outreach and how we best accomplish that in
places like communities where they have
different challenges and different needs. |
think for the most part we are already finding
better ways at talking with each other, and
part of that is the active engagement and part
of that is ensuring that the college is not
viewed as an intimidating, but more as a
place where they can transform their life on
where they can move forward in their future
and change it into something better,
something bigger, something different.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) And from Family
Services, Ms. Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Definitely at
the executive and managerial level the
college and Family Services definitely are on
the same page and are aiming to work much
more closer together to ensure, from the
Family Services perspective, it’s about
funding for different programs, and so where
ever the college is ready expand on the
programs in a community, we’re definitely
there to support them. However, where there
is a lack of that in a particular community,
there is where our labour market federal
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funding side of things can come into effect.

There are a few examples. We have really
good programs running. Through the literacy
council we have also Inspire, and we also
have Inspire, and then we also have some
land programming through... I can’t
remember the name of the company that we
fund, but there are also land programs where
we’re seeing huge successes, and where
youth are taken out with an outfitter and the
youth are now inspired to also follow and
build their business. At the front community
level, definitely the management in both
organizations is both very supportive of
frontline. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you as
well. Ms. Angnakak

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you. Thank you for
that response. | think those are very
important projects that you used as an
example.

I think I am concerned a little bit that we do
have projects that are great, but what we need
is to be consistent. That is why | really
believe that the ABE, both levels, are like the
foundation to a start, and that it is consistent
and that it happens every year; if you take the
one course, the next year you are going to be
taking the next course. It is going to be there
for you. It is not like you take one course and
then there is no more courses happening to
get to the next level, because that is very
frustrating for people that really want to
learn.

| think we need to look at the big picture. |
think we really need to plan what is it, where
do we need to start? Those literacy programs
are wonderful and we need them, but, it has
to be consistent and we need to take those
people that are on the literacy programs to
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the next level. Once they have completed you
can’t leave them hanging because they get
lost, and then we do not really get anywhere
because they do not have quite enough to get
to the next step.

That is my concern and that is what | would
like to encourage the educators here to think
about because I think the intensions are very
good. People want to help other people, but |
feel there are gaps that really need to be
addressed and those are some big gaps. We
are pleased that we have offered this course,
but then we forget that, okay, it is not
finished yet. We need to go on.

| just want make that a strong point of mine.

The other, | am curious about per diem rates.
I do not know if you call them training rates,
| do not know. If there is a single person and
they are on income support... . [ guess my
question is to Family Services; if you are on
income support and then you have an
opportunity to go to school, and you go on
FANS, let’s say, or ALTS, what happens to
that income | get through income support? Is
it topped up, or is it something | have to now
give-up and | go to a training, and the
training is as comparable. | do not know. If
you can just help me to understand that a
little bit better. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Clift.

Mr. Clift: Ma’na, Mr. Chairman.
(interpretation ends) Firstly, as | mentioned
yesterday, whether you got to FANS or
whether you go to ALTS support, you get
significant more as a single person than you
would get on income assistance. In terms of
raw dollars in your pocket, you get more. In
general, someone who goes onto one of our
training allowances gets $400 per week.
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There are a few modifications. For instance
the G.R.E.A.T. program allows people to
stay on income assistance and then they get a
top-up, and we are exploring other options
like that with my colleague, the director of
income assistance.

In general we move people over to ALTS
because financially it is better for them, and
it allows us to put them on a more straight
forward stream, hopefully not getting them
back to income assistance. We can keep
moving them along the continuum. That
certainly is our intention in doing that.

I think, as | said yesterday, certainly with
respect to income assistance, | have not
worked out all the numbers, but I do know
for a fact because | was looking at this the
other day for a client, is that a family of two
adults and two children will get more money
per months on ALTS than they will on
income assistance. The program is very
much oriented to not only, is this the way to
go as far as improving your life, but it is
actually the way to go as far as improving
your life right now. You are going to have
more resources available to you.

With respect to the comments made earlier
about supporting part-time learners and such,
this is one of the things we’re looking at is
that in the past we have been a bit piecemeal
on some of the supports we provide and
we’re very much trying to look more
holistically at how we support our learners,
particularly those who don’t have a lot of
experience or didn’t have good experiences
in education. In a few weeks’ time the
Minister will be making an announcement
about trades training and you will see some
of that, that we’re making some changes to
better support learners all the way around and
not just say, “Here’s your money. You’re on
your own.” Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you. Thank you for
that information. It’s very useful to know. It
makes me think now. We have a lot of
people on income support. Let’s say last
fiscal year just so we could have a full year,
how many have changed from income
support to ALTS or income support to
FANS? Who are we attracting? How many
are we attracting? It would be great too to
find out and I don’t know if you track this,
but let’s say I was on income support for
years and then | got onto ALTS and | trained
and then I got a job, do you track how many
people have actually graduated and now are
independent? Do we have that kind of
information? If so, | would be grateful if you
could share that with us. It would be good to
see. Do you or? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Clift.

Mr. Clift: Ma’na, Mr. Chairman. Presently
we don’t. We do get anecdotal information
from people, for instance, who have
graduated from the G.R.E.A.T. program and
have gone to do programs at the college and
employment. We don’t do it systematically at
this point in part because our information
technology infrastructure isn’t there. We
have an outstanding proposal at this point to
integrate the information systems of income
assistance and career development precisely
be heading in this direction and it’s part of
our overall strategy for the department,
which is moving to one client, one plan, that
is, that we don’t want to view people
separately depending on which window they
come to. We view them as a human being but
needs a continuum of support. As |
mentioned yesterday, we are making steps
forward in that respect.
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Unfortunately I couldn’t provide you the data
on people who have gone from income
assistance to ALTS or off to employment. |
will ask my colleague, the director of income
assistance, what he may have available, but
I’m not familiar with his database. Thank
you, Mr. Speaker. Oh, Mr. Chairman. Darn
it!

>>| aughter

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) It’s getting better every
time you say it.

>>| aughter
It happens all the time. Ms. Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you. Thank you for
that information. It would be useful to know
too how many people are on ALTS and that
just so we can get... . Maybe that will be
kind of like the base numbers to get an idea.

| would like to go on to talk a little bit about
summer school for the college. I just feel it’s
very important. | think the college, in every
community, becomes a very focal point
where people like to go, especially for
Internet and stuff, and I think there’s a real
opportunity. You’re paying for the power
and the heat and everything already. There’s
got to be a way that it could be worked out.
There’s always a way if there’s a will.

| really believe that there are a lot of people
in communities that don’t have the chance to
go away on summer holidays or boating, |
mean students of all ages. I think it would be
a real opportunity there for our government,
our college to work with students, having
maybe more science camps going on. | know
that there are some and I know that a lot of
these science camps are funded third party,
but maybe there’s some kind of money that
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we can get for every community that they
could offer something to the children,
especially those who don’t have other
opportunities, and also for adults like me. |
went to a summer course years ago and had a
great time. You meet other people and it’s a
way of connecting with other people in your
community. For Iqaluit, I think it’s a good
thing as well.

| was actually trying to find a place for a
constituent who came to me because their
child needed a couple of credits. They were
trying to see if their daughter could do this
over the summer so that she could go on to
school in September. There was nowhere.
Nobody was able to oversee her course and
the evaluation of it like when she was testing
and that. I would like to... . (interpretation)
It’s just a comment, (interpretation ends) just
to say that something, | really think, should
be done. Weekends and evening courses,
there are a lot of us that like to do that kind
of thing. Again, it brings us together as a
community.

I’m getting to the end of my questions, but I
do want to talk about the, and I’'m not too
sure this is a finance issue or is it a college
issue or what, but about flex hours. When |
was going through my door to dooring, I had
a number of people bring up the concern
about employment and flex hours, and one of
them was about the college. Because we have
such a problem with availability of daycare
spaces, some couples, one has to stay home
because there are children to look after and
there’s nowhere for them to go.

One of them was saying that they would love
to teach at the college after hours. That was
her dream, but the college didn’t have that
kind of flex hours, so it really wasn’t... . I
think maybe, when we talk about evening
courses, you can attract some of us that
maybe are busy throughout the day but want
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to take courses. You can have people like her
who may be at home during the day but able
to teach at night. It’s just something to
explore and | think it is possible because |
have actually spoken to a few who wouldn’t
mind doing that. Now, that was like two
years ago, so I don’t know if they’re in town
now or not.

One thing about family services | did want to
mention and you did talk about the one-
window aspect and | really like that. I think
that’s great. I think that’s the way we should
be going. Just as an encouragement, | think
that it should be the same way for training
dollars too. When somebody is applying, |
think ALTS, if I understand it correctly, does
not cover dependants whereas FANS covers
dependants. 1 think that you should do away
with that and treat people the same. |
understand about the length of time. |
understand you have legislation about FANS,
but the ALTS, you can put that in yourself,
you could make that change yourself, you
could make that policy change yourself and
say, “You know what? We’re going to treat
everybody the same.”

If you have to go away and you come here to
Iqaluit to take a course that’s funded through
ALTS, you either leave your family behind
or you bring them here, so you have to pay
everything. The living arrangements, | think,
have an impact on whether or not you’re on
ALTS or whether or not you’re on FANS. I
think training is training is training and it’s
very good and I’'m being told to wrap it up,
so that was my last question. Thank you very
much.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) The question for Family
Services or if you maybe just... . Oh, it’s just
a comment? Okay. We will now take a 10-
minute break. Thank you.
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>>Committee recessed at 15:14 and
resumed at 15:37

Chairperson (Ms. Towtongie): Getting back
to the Department of Education, Ms.
MacMillan has some information she would
like to share. Please go head.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Madam
Chairperson. It is a quick announcement
regarding district education authorities.
Monday, October 28 is election day for all
district education authorities and the
Commission scolaire francophone du
Nunavut, CSFN. DEAS and CSFN candidate
declaration periods closes tomorrow and
there are some communities that still have no
candidates declared. The Department of
Education encourages anyone who is
interested in education in their community
and who is looking to become an important

community leader, to declare their candidacy.

You can download the declaration of
candidacy form from the Elections Nunavut
website at www.elections.nu.ca, or to find
out more about becoming a candidate, call
Elections Nunavut at 1-800-267-4394. And
again that is for the DEA elections and the
closing is tomorrow. (interpretation) Thank
you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Everybody who is listening in Nunavut, |
encourage you all to run for the local DEA
elections so you can be a part of your
children’s future. We’ll get back to our
meeting. Ms. Angnakak, are you done with
your questions? The next name is the
Member for Hall Beach, Mr. Kaernerk.

Mr. Kaernerk (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Member for Amittuq is
the proper title. I just want to encourage
everyone to run for their local DEAs. Please
inform people that the closing date is
tomorrow.
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I will proceed with my question. Using my
own language, we call the Auditor General
gaujisagtimariit in our community, and some
people call them killisiniartiit, and other
people call them tammagsimajugsiuqtit, but
it means the same thing; Office of the
Auditor General.

| have a question on paragraphs 53 and 54 of
the report and | would like to ask this
question to the Nunavut Arctic College. The
report notes the lack of outreach on the part
of the college to inform high school students
and students of other programs. My
colleague from Amittuq stated they only
have one teacher between the two
communities, so how will you try to assist
these students since the Auditor General
found that there is a lack of outreach? What
have you been doing to inform the students
about the different program options? Is it
running better now or is there still room for
improvement? That is my fist question.
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
My apologies. | should have referred to Mr.
Kaernerk, the Member for Amittug. Nunavut
Arctic College, Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson and thank you for the
question. Yes, they are being improved
already. We are hiring more people, and local
community staff have also been promoting
the college and we will be hiring people who
will be doing that specific work. We have
already been approaching other organizations
to ask to partner with them to help us inform
the people of Nunavut of what programs are
available, and not just education programs
but as also finance helping programs and we
have also had discussions on how we can
better work together.
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For example, quite recently the Department
of Family Services and Nunavut Arctic
College worked together when we found
students who were falling behind. Though
they may fall behind, sometimes they have to
wait a long time, so we had discussions to
see how we could help each other and
anything else we should be doing. We didn’t
just want to give a response; we wanted to do
a real response where we did something with
financial institution to try and put more of a
comprehensive answer for the students that
come from the government and Arctic
College.

If it comes from the College, the Department
of Education, or Family Services, anybody
who is interested in applying looks at us as
one government, not three different
departments. So we have to work together to
try and put a response together, so that is
what we decided to do. Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Suvega, from Arctic College. Joelie,
Member for Amittug.

Mr. Kaernerk (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Thank you for that
response. | can see there is room for
improvement and it’s in the Auditor
General’s report as well. Inuit learn by
observation and hands-on learning. An elder
who has never been in school, who has never
been into college and if that elder’s skidoo
breaks down, then an uneducated person can
fix their own skidoo. Can this be improved as
well where people who want to go to school
to learn carpentry or woodworking? Even
though their grades are not on par or what’s
necessary and they are very good at
woodworking and the only thing stopping
them is the lack of diplomas and
certification. Maybe the abilities of that
person should be looked at first and then look
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at what certificates that person has, do it the
other way around instead.

Can more thought be put into this matter? If |
wanted to learn about woodworking or
construction and I’'m not certified in anything
and I don’t have any formal education, but
I’m quite able to do woodworking, can
Nunavut Arctic College look into this further
along with the Department of Education to
see how you can work together on those
matters? Training done by the Nunavut
government would mean something if it was
done that way, look at the abilities of the
person and then look at what other training
that person needs. Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Arctic College...I don’t think I'm
pronouncing your name correctly. Mr.
Suvega. Thank you.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. We do have relatives
with the Sevoga last name in Baker Lake, so
that’s okay.

Thank you for asking the question. The plans
that are made have not been really apparent
up to now and we’re trying to work hard to
make sure that they are more apparent like
these programs more apparent out there.
Sometimes we would try to promote them to
everybody and then we would end up taking
too long. If anyone is interested in becoming
a teacher or a nurse, we’re always looking
into them, not just reviewing them but also
working with them.

The report from the Auditor General states
how else we can improve things that can be
considered if that person doesn’t have any
education on paper or if that person never
completed. We’re always trying to include
them. It’s called prior learning assessment in
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English. We do that for individual students
and students learn more about how they
can...we learn more about how we can
progress the students. This may be changing
as time goes by and as the requests from the
communities change. We’re not always just
looking for things that can help us progress,
but we want to actually use them to progress,
not just look for them. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Member for Amittug.

Mr. Kaernerk (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. It’s very good to hear that you
will be looking more into that. There are
people who have never gone into school.
Woodworking is the example | was using.
It’s something that they can use to get into a
school, their abilities.

I would like to move to a different question.
In the Auditor General’s report, paragraph
69, five years have passed that Nunavut
Arctic College... . Over the past five years
the college did not offer its core Adult Basic
Education Program in almost 70 percent of
Nunavut’s communities. Those people need
to be educated. Can you explain more about
what’s new or give us an update on this?
That’s my last question. Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Member for Amittug. Arctic College, Mr.
Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. | also thank you for that
question. We’re not just looking at them;
we’re learning them. We’re finding out that
we want to share the things we have
compiled with other organizations, with the
other departments within Nunavut and
outside of Nunavut. Some of the reasons
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have been the budget and also not knowing
what’s available out there and what services
are available. We’re correcting that, workers
that can help and documents that can be
made easier.

When | was just beginning my position, we
went to Cambridge Bay for a trade show and
they had all sorts of programs available there
and some of them were just photocopied.
They’re always showcased differently and
the promotional material is always different.
If we’re going to promote everything that is
available in Nunavut, | wanted to make sure
that we do it in a standardized way and have
it available in different languages and not just
on paper, not just online; we’re also looking
at utilizing radios and also in the schools.
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Member Keyootak is next.

Mr. Keyootak (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Maybe | just don’t see
it here; it may be in here. I’m not sure which
document it is in, but I would like to ask
Nunavut Arctic College. Now, with Nunavut
Arctic College, in Clyde River there is a
Pigqusilirivvik cultural school. It used to be
independent. However, Nunavut Arctic
College took it over. How is that going? Do
the staff at Pigqusilirivvik work together with
Nunavut Arctic College? How do they work
together? That’s my first question. Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
We’re going to Arctic College.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for your question. |
was just recently in Clyde River to
participate in a meeting. We are also going to
be going up to Clyde River next month to
attend their meeting. We would like to have
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several meetings a year, including the
Piqqusilirivvik cultural school. I’ve had
dialogue with the board members to find out
which programs are running smoothly, what
is required, and what is missing. Also, we
look at the programs, for example, the
cultural aspects of the school to make sure
that there’s appropriate funding.

The Piqqusilirivvik cultural school is
recognized Nunavut-wide and also out of the
territory. We are also looking at how we can
better utilize their tools. We hope to provide
more support to the cultural school. Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Suvega. | also thank you, Member. Next
is Margaret Nakashuk, Member for
Pangnirtung.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. My first question is in
regard to an ongoing topic and this is in
regard to the ABE program. We have a
slightly different program in Pangnirtung and
we’ve had those programs for quite a number
of years now. With the students in the ABE-
Essential Skills, they’re requesting to get
further training. Usually due to lack of
students interested in that program, the
program is usually stopped. Has there been
any improvement or what have you done to
make those programs available? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Nakashuk. Mr. Suvega for Arctic
College.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Sometimes we have to
cut a program due to lack of attendance or
lack of interest. It might be in one
community that the program is dropped, but
we do try to make sure that we communicate
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or advertise to make sure that we have
enough students to keep the program going
and to make sure that we have the instructors
available or to find about the availability of
the instructors. We usually will set up the
program in the spring to have it available in
the fall. We have a close working
relationship with the entities to make sure
that the funds are available. Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Suvega. Member Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. In the auditor’s report
there are employment-geared programs
available at Arctic College so that they would
become employable at the end within their
community. There is also support from social
services. The intent of those programs is to
get them out of income support and into the
workforce or be part of the labour force.

Nunavut Arctic College has meetings with
the staff at the community level and they
identify what programs they would like to
see, for example, seal skinning, mechanics,
and so on, which we rarely hear about. The
Nunavut Arctic College office probably has a
list of programs that the communities would
like to see and what they’re interested in, or
is that information submitted to the
headquarters over here? I’'m sure there’s a list
of programs that the communities would like
to see. If so, could you elaborate? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Member Nakashuk. To Mr. Suvega for
Arctic College.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Thank you for that
question. I agree with you wholeheartedly.
It’s going to be a benefit not only to the
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students; it is a benefit also to the businesses
and to the people who hire at the community
level. We are more than interested in
receiving a list of programs that would like to
be seen at the community level. Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Suvega. Member Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. That’s very interesting
to hear and | would like to see more of the
communities identifying what types of
programs they would like to see. For
example, in Pangnirtung not all classrooms
are utilized. We would like to see all the
classrooms utilized and to have more
students entering the college. There are a
large number of people who use the income
support and we would like to enter the labour
force.

We have meetings with our constituents and
on more than one occasion. For example, last
year the programs that were made available
in Pangnirtung, this one student is an income
support recipient and the other student was
not a recipient, but they were taking the same
class through the ALTS funding. Itis
available. If I was an income support
recipient, there would be a $10 incentive that
I would receive. We have to look at the
funding that is made available to the students
so that the students who are interested in
going to school have that incentive.

This is not the first time that people have told
me about this discretion and all I hear is it’s
under review. In order to decrease the
number of recipients, we have to make sure
that it’s fair and financial support is provided
to the students. Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
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Member Nakashuk. Department of Family
Services, Yvonne Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. (interpretation ends)
I’m not quite clear on the question. Can we
have that reiterated? (interpretation) Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Member Nakashuk, please clarify your
question.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. (interpretation ends)
My question was...I will give you an
example of clients going into college
foundation. One comes in as an income
support recipient taking the same program,
so the client receives the $10 incentive.
Another student comes in and takes the same
program that is not on income support and is
getting the full ALTS funding. Their training
allowance is different from one another,
though they are taking the same program.

Is the department reviewing the training
incentive for income support recipients for
them to get off income support?
(interpretation) Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Member Nakashuk. Department of Family
Services, Yvonne Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. (interpretation ends)
I’m not aware of any individual cases like
that, however, my colleague, the director of
career development, may be more informed.
(interpretation) Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Go ahead. (interpretation)
Thank you. Robert Clift.
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Mr. Clift: Ma’na, Madam Chairperson. As
far as [ am aware at this point, and I’ll have
to check with my colleague, the director of
income assistance, we’re not generally
providing any... what’s the word I’'m looking
for; this $10 incentive people on income
assistance. If they qualify, if they’re taking a
college foundations course full-time, they
qualify for the full ALTS support and should
be switched over to the full ALTS support. It
may be the case that somebody got incorrect
information and the client didn’t get the
benefit of that where they could have had it.

In two weeks’ time, people from HQ, for
both the Career Development and Income
Assistance divisions, are going to
Pangnirtung to meet with income assistance
and career development workers precisely to
work out these kinds of issues to be clear
about what is available to people.

We have certainly found in other places that
the income assistance workers aren’t entirely
aware of what is available through career
development and again, that is one of the
reasons why we’re trying to focus on one
client, but that shouldn’t have happened. If
they were both attending the program full-
time, the individual on income assistance
certainly should have been moved to ALTS.
That was a mistake, absolutely. Ma 'na,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Member Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson, and thank you for that
response. That is what happened in my
community last year, and it’s not the only
incident so you have to note that discrepancy.

I would also like to talk about the use of
Inuktitut in schools. The Department of
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Education indicated that English 120 is a
requirement, and 10 points and they would
be able to complete grade 12.

The individual should be able to read and
write in Inuktitut, and there are a lot of
people in the community, and we use
Inuktitut in our Nunavut communities,
though not all communities. What really
touched me in the past and it says in
paragraph 60, which I’ll read in English,
(interpretation ends) “...according to an
international assessment of adult proficiency
in literacy and numeracy conducted between
2011 and 2012, 83% of Nunavummiut aged
16 to 65 had literacy levels below what is
needed for most tasks in society and the
workplace. It is important to note that the
assessment was conducted in English or
French—neither of which was the mother
tongue of most of the Inuit respondents.”

(interpretation) It shows here, for example,
you guys are not speaking English grammar
too much, but it sounds like the Inuktitut
language is being challenged. (interpretation
ends) Maybe this isn’t relevant.
(interpretation) The Inuktitut language needs
to be used more in Nunavut and in schools. |
just wanted to elaborate on that. Thank you,
Madam Speaker.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Member Nakashuk. Member John Main is
next.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. (interpretation ends)
I’m going to go to page 20 of the report and
this is for the Office of the Auditor General.
You have maps here and you show where
these two types of ABE were offered by the
college, adult basic education. It’s notable
that there seems to be a discrepancy between
one region of the territory. The western
Kitikmeot region seems to be doing a lot,
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well, a lot better for this core adult basic
education course, and then the rest of the
territory, the other two regions were offering
more adult basic education, the essential
skills course. In the course of your audit, did
you find an explanation for this discrepancy
which seems to be broken down on regions?
(interpretation) Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Member John Main. Office of the Auditor
General, Mr. McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. If it’s okay, I would like to
answer part of this question and ask my
colleague, Madam Scott, if she has anything
else to add.

That is a question that we asked ourselves as
well and one of the answers was that staff in
that region recognized that providing access
to ABE-core was important, that they
identified that as a need amongst learners in
their communities. As we note in our report
in paragraph 81, some of the other factors
that may play into this particularly in the
other regions is things such as a lack of the
necessary skills and experience by some
adult educators in terms of being able to
teach the ABE-core program. It requires that
the individual know multiple subjects and
that they have the lesson plans prepared and
know what the needs of their students are.

Something that was raised earlier was limited
space in community learning centres and also
limited funding for ABE-core programming
and instructors as well. If I would compare it
to ABE-Essential Skills, one of the things
that we noted was and we noted in our report
in paragraph 63 is that ABE-Essential Skills,
the college has received funding from the
federal government to help deliver that
program and that helped develop curriculum
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materials and lesson plans that the instructors
could then use. They were able to benefit
from that funding to address some of the
issues that we noted that were a challenge,
some of the other factors that we noted in the
report.

Those were some of the observations that we
have made, and | would maybe just conclude
by stating, in paragraph 93, where we talk
about data that the college was collecting on
people applying to their programs and we
recommended that the college look at how
that information could be better shared
amongst the various managers who are
delivering programs so that they are aware of
some of the needs within their communities,
some of which could be related to adult basic
education core programs and could help
inform them about delivering or the need for
those types of programs within their
communities.

Maybe I’ll just ask Adrienne if there are any
additional observations. Thank you.

Chairperson: Adrienne Scott.

Ms. Scott: Thank you, Madam Chairperson.
I think I could add a couple of important
points. As we understand it, the way that
Nunavut Arctic College is organized, an
adult educator is staffed in each community,
but that adult educator has a lot of
responsibilities. They need to help conduct a
placement test that students need to take the
entrance exams that students need to take,
they are responsible for outreach and
community needs assessments, people can
walk in the door and time and ask some
guestions, and also sometimes they need to
be providing support to students. So it’s a
very busy job, and as Mr. McKenzie said,
with regard to teaching adult basic education
core, you need to have the expertise and the
time to prepare. So you have to prepare
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lesson plans, you have to have the necessary
subject matter expertise; you need to devise
assessment rubrics and do grading. That is
something that you as an adult educator need
to develop on your own for the ABE Core
program, whereas for ABE Essential Skills,
as we understand it, there is a very extensive
package of materials, so it’s very easy for a
teacher to teach it.

What we understand that they have been
doing in the Kitikmeot region is that the
manager has made a decision to shorten the
school day so that the teaching hours, | think
the school day in terms of lessons closes
down at 3:30, and that gives the adult
educator time to do all the other tasks that
need to be done, prepare for the next day, to
make it more manageable so that they can
deliver those programs.

One of the things that we noted is that there
is no dedicated core funding for adult basic
education core, so the college has funding,
and perhaps Mr. Suvega can speak to this,
but as we understand it, there is funding for
an adult educator position, there is funding
for the operations and maintenance of the
college, but that adult educator could be
tasked with teaching anything, and there is
no core dedicated funding on an annual basis
for ABE Core.

I hope that | have maybe fleshed things out a
little bit, but I think it is a multiplicity of
different factors that come into play,
including funding. Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Member John Main.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. (interpretation ends)
Thank you for explaining that.

N®ePNNo <P, ACNAN>T<IPo
Ac®o<PNPha® Ll ActLbhNSosle <P
CL°dd DPPDLLOC® N2

Ao <PNERACC>® >Sq CC>®

PPN LYDC

SPNTD>c oac*M o Codd ArLcDcP>SLC
A>CCNADIAS, bLADYAC Codd ACHANS
ABSGd*M D PbdS, DobdC Lo
ACKANDN® A, AQPNbP*a ST<SLE,
Mo AAPN bR o Lt AL*a
AbSGo® Ac®o g b®oNe

ACNAN> 505 AL CLedd AYPRAC A,
A*a "o <LC

CALASCDS® Ac*L LeaP<Sc
PaDLbe*NI% A%qSof L MC
AALSCSBA DSbD>Z L *a eCL,
D>b>YNRa<%C AaSo¢
PaDLSHGH®D%, PY<da ACKANM>C
Lea D AL*a PaPySbilnesnedse
ACNANIC PP PR H5eGC PP
Ac A*a o¢ PY<o.

CALc A/LPHOJc CAL onb<>*Lo CAL
Cea PDY*NALRGSHA AAINNYof, PY<o
ArAda® A<Nsb>SLE CLbdo™L
O%bPNSHSeLSHEC®IC Pa PLCC>e
ARCP>N5J. Sdy*al®, AbY/RPCSe,

A/ XPCSe: Sgub>q [b LLeD®N b LA,

LA%: 'a, APHARDCS, (ONNNJC) Sd2a [
JP/NENS>a NGAC,

P ®RSAL DA DL Pa by CLea
ADACDPPCDR®. AALM d e ALLSb

128



I guess I’ll go to the college then. First on the
funding issues, maybe just briefly, if the
college can describe what you do when
you’re preparing to offer an ABE Core
program in a community in terms of securing
the funding. (interpretation) Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Member Main. Mr. Suvega from Nunavut
Arctic College.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. (interpretation ends)
Thank you for that question. Yes, funding is
a real big issue and I think to try and ensure
that there is continuity, especially if it is
third-party funded, can be a bit of a
challenge. To try and ensure, | think going
forward, that there continues to be funding,
the first piece we have tried to identify and
let all different stakeholders know is: there is
a certain need and level for advocacy work.
Government is one of the main funders but
we do have other streams that we could try
and get funding from as well and to try and
stabilize some of the funding.

One of them is Canada, and that is where
we’re trying to work with other jurisdictions,
particularly northern jurisdictions, to
advocate for not just continued funding, but
increased funding too. If we haven’t had
increases in a certain number of years, and
it’s not keeping up with changes or demands.
It’s going to be difficult to try to keep that
stable level of funding in place. Funding is
just one component and as identified in the
OAG’s report, skills and space are two other
components.

One of the things that | repeated over the last
few responses are the need for things like
academic planning and getting calendars out,
not just for the learners or the communities
but for the different stakeholders and funders

QAQS DI PCEIBRACNADA DPZNCNTSe
Sbo®IHCPAIC <Sa ALY A%qSof
AT <LPNAC oa.c o, Ao<®It Codd
PaDLbse/LN5J? ORNMNJRPEE®D%) L',
APHARDCSe,

A/ RPCS®: Sdvyoal®, LcLaD®N LA
dCEDPRTA™IC, AALTE.

AALSe: sgyealt, ACYRPCS, (ONNNJC)
sdytal o JA®ANGAC A, Pa by Cta
AOA>T <L YHCLE <L bida Dy o
CAL%a, AD®I Jc CJC

Pa PLeCSA A Ho. CAL /2 JSo<dSHo

Pa P>LSbibeCe Doy Sodc eI JDecbl[®
CAb®LE APSHo <o

AcCra ASbeCsYLIJC CLbd<de NIM>LAC
NJr<se/LL2C 4L 5 Cedo*Lo

Na DU nosdes. Acb LRLEIC PaDho®
NACNC/SbEC®Dse, PIIoCCP>e LRLedeC>Se
YIS A, PabLsTeCpse
AQABECHZLN“HC Ac*LECHs.

CAL AcPyD>Nse baCl <L <1,
ADLSIre BPBLCeI L5 b o <L
Pa Dby <l P<bbeaSd Hd Mo ek,
<AL CLbdo™L DBPPoC Sb>Yot <>
SPLENPLNSOJ CLedo™L <PoaseC>PLY 0% 5
A5 L RPLLE Sh o CLbdd
PaDLSbse/LePN 5. LLECDS Pa DL se
CAL C*a@cCP>S AcCnbyDrLI® Coa
CLed<d ActLbNSoS1es <ty b Lspe,

CALECDS Ac Pyl DN®Ce Do/ %
PRL>LNE, DPONNPSJ CLedd <Sa Ao
A*Q50¢, CHP®YPN 0“5 LbCPo<d®IAC
AL Cdd Pabbocs RASYSHEC®IAS S
DAL ®DC Acto %I 0t <L

ACNANDY O, Sdy*af®, AbYRPCSb,

129



that also play a role in providing support to
students, staff, and learners. Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Member Main.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. (interpretation ends)
My understanding, then, is if you want to
offer this program in a community, let’s say
Arviat, the college has to go and find third
party funding from somewhere. You’ve got
to put a proposal in somewhere and get third
party funding. Am | correct in this?
(interpretation) Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you. To
Arctic College, Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. For a large part, yes, we do try
to ensure that we have adequate funding
pieces in place to continue delivering
programs, but as we identify funding, we
also have the necessary steps to get some of
the pieces in place and ready, like the
programming, the staffing, the skills, and the
space. Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Member John Main.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. (interpretation ends)
Has the college done any work to bring that
ABE-core course into its core-funded
programming? Has the college put forward a
business case? Has the GN put in proposals
to third parties to try to get money? It seems
like a simple problem. We need these
courses. The courses need money. Let’s find
the money. I’m sort of thinking that way.
(interpretation) Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.
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Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you. To
Arctic College, Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. (interpretation ends)
For trying to advocate for any sort of funding
from any source, I don’t see a lot of strong
evidence that there have been previous
business cases kind of put together before,
but 1 think it is something we easily
identified as a group and not just as solely as
the college that we kind of need to work
together on.

All the different business cases that | think
we need to develop over the next year and
few years as we try to suggest improvements
to programs or reinvestments in certain areas
like community learning centres, that’s
something we’re recognizing right away that
we do need to spend a lot of time on is
generating reviews, provide that data so we
can do the analysis and put them into our
business cases. Thank you, Itsivautaag.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Member John Main.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Earlier the Auditor
General talked about (interpretation ends)
paragraph 81, and this question is for the
college. Where it says that “a lack of
necessary skills and experience by some
adult educators to teach the ABE-core
program,” I’m just curious why it would only
be some adult educators who can teach this
program and some can’t. [ was under the
impression that to become an adult educator,
you have to have a core knowledge or
background. Why can’t some of the adult
educators teach adult basic education? It
seems to me like if you can’t teach adult
basic education, maybe you should not be an
adult educator. An educator can’t educate?
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I’m sure it’s way more complicated than that,
but 1 would like to understand why this is.
(interpretation) Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you. To
Arctic College, Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. (interpretation ends)
That is something we are taking a good look
at as well and not just for adult educators; for
staff and faculty across the board as we look
at things like trying to develop more tools,
more options, and support for things like
professional development.

Part of the thing that | mentioned earlier too
is that the college community does often
come together to help each other out. So if
we’re struggling in one area, sometime we
are able to kind of borrow from one area of
the college to help something else out
temporarily.

For the most part, it is trying to ensure, again,
that there are tools and resources in place if
staff want to do things like upgrading or
professional development or even go back to
school. So that is something that we’re
looking at within the college. We’ve also
reached out to the Department of Human
Resources and others to see what additional
supports can be provided to public servants.

Staff training, Sivuligtiksat training,
professional development, and there are all
kinds of courses for GN employees that
college employees are now eligible for. That
is working in conjunction with the
Department of Human Resources.
(interpretation) Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Suvega. Member John Main.
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Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. (interpretation ends)
This question is for the Auditor General’s
office. When you look at Nunavut and the
background and everything, and it was
interesting that you included both Arctic
College and the Department of Education in
the same audit because it’s interesting to see
the interplay, so we see problems within the
education system, and we see the Arctic
College offering all of these college
foundation programs. There is college
foundations for teachers, pre-nursing, pre-
apprenticeship. I don’t have an education
background, but I thought that college
foundations is called grade 12, to sum it up.

When you look at Nunavut and maybe other
jurisdictions, are we unique in that there are
all of these college foundation or preparatory
type courses offered in the territory?
(interpretation) Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Member John Main. | have other names on
my list. I’ll give you an opportunity, Auditor
General, Mr. McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Our understanding is that there
are other post-secondary institutions where if
a student does not have the necessary
prerequisites, that they would be asked to
take certain qualifying courses in order to get
entry into their programs.

It’s not that it is unique, and I think in the
case of Nunavut, that there will be
individuals who may not have completed
high school, or have been out of the high
school system for a while. So the college
foundations program does provide an
opportunity for those types of individuals. It
does play a role.
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| think what we have heard from some of the
educators though, is that students coming out
of the high school system may not have the
qualifications in order to move forward. |
think if there are improvements at the high
school level, that the demand and the
potential need for offering those courses may
reduce over time, but those types of
programs do play a role given the needs of
some of the learners and where they are in
terms of their abilities, if you will, and their
readiness to enter into some of these
programs.

Maybe just as a final comment, it also speaks
to what some of the earlier discussions we
had about the high school system and
students being provided with advice about
the types of courses that they need to get
into, for example, nursing or the teaching
program so that if they graduate and they
weren’t aware about those pre-requisites,
they may very well have to take something
like college foundations to allow them to fill
those gaps, so to speak, and get those pre-
requisites.

Some of that demand, if you will, could be
avoided by students having a better
understanding of what it is that they need to
take in high school so that they have those
pre-requisites already when they graduate
and avoid having to take a college
foundations type of program. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you. (interpretation)
Member John Main.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. I’ll now ask Arctic
College about that. (interpretation ends) It’s
hypothetical, but I think it’s not that far out
there. If we, tomorrow, said no more college
foundation course of any kind in Nunavut
and you offer your courses, but you’re not
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allowed to offer any college foundation
courses, what would the effect be on the
college and the course offerings and students
within those courses? (interpretation) Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you. To
Arctic College, Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. (interpretation ends)
Hypothetically there could be immediate
impacts to other programs. If a learner was
previously taking something before or could
have taken something before in the program
that’s now taken away, sometimes we see
also that during their time in a community
learning centre or a college program, they see
something else has become available and
their interest kind of changes over time too.
Hypothetically they wouldn’t have that
opportunity because now a program is taken
away, another tool is taken away. Sometimes
that happens because funding disappears or a
community needs change, but it should be
community-driven and communities need to
be involved.

For us, we need to do a lot better in, perhaps,
educating the communities and the public
about what sorts of program offerings are
available and what exactly do they mean. For
the most part, we try to impress upon all the
learners regardless of what program they’re
taking that they’re aware of all the
requirements and all the responsibilities that
they’re signing onto as an adult. That’s
something that I think we’re continually
improving all the time, but that’s clearly one
area where | think we need to spend a little
bit of time. We’re starting with things like
calendars, trying to clarify things with
different stakeholders about the college’s
role, funding, communities, and so on.
(interpretation) Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.
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Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Member Paul Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. On the same issue of
what my colleague had asked earlier about,
part of it, first of all, we’re all aware that
people who are sitting here, all of us are
aware that we need more Inuit teachers who
can speak Inuktitut, who are literate in
Inuktitut that will be teaching Inuktitut. We
all know that. We live in Nunavut and all of
us are probably aware of that.

According to the report of the Auditor
General’s office, the college foundation
program is very useful and NTEP, the
Teacher Education Program was heavily
utilized. The purpose probably is that people
who graduate from grade 12 are not on par
with... . They say they graduate grade 12,
but they have to go through the college
foundation course. It’s unfortunate. It’s very
unfortunate. To my understanding, with the
course being very useful in 2018, the
Nunavut Arctic College were going to stop
doing the college foundation program. To my
understanding that is the situation and the
reasoning was because they have to get third-
party funding in order to operate. | have a
short question; in 2018 you wanted to stop
the college foundation program when we
need a lot of Inuktitut teachers who are
literate. Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
For Arctic College, Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. | thank you for your
question. On language, that is our priority
too. They need to be added and they need to
be a part of the work for the courses and
programs. Yes, we need teachers, and yes,
we totally agree with that. We operate with
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funding and if the funding is not there, if we
need to cut programs when the funding is
discontinued, occasionally maybe in the
future, we don’t want to see that. If that is
going to be the case, we will have to
approach the government again. This is in a
dangerous position, are they going to cut it?
If you want to consider that more as a
government, and members will have to
consider that in the future.

It is obvious | would like my vice-president
to elaborate on that. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Rebecca Mearns.

Ms. Mearns: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. I’ll just touch on a few
examples from the college that we’re
currently working on as far as preparing our
learners to enter into different programs,
whether it be the degree program, or
diplomas.

The first example of change is we have
changed pre-nursing to pre-health, which
opens up a number of different options for
our learners, so it’s not as narrow towards
only nursing. It opens up, if a learner enters
into pre-health, then it opens up additional
options for them to continue on based on the
courses that they receive in that program.

College foundations is currently being
offered here in lgaluit. Then when it comes
to the teacher education program, as
everyone is aware, there have been some
changes that are happening to the Nunavut
Teacher Education Program with a focus on
Inuktitut in the first two years or
Inuinnagtun. Currently we are running a
focus on first language, with ongoing
development of a second language program
as well.
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Part of what is worked into that program
currently is almost like a foundation year
with a focus improving Inuktitut literacy,
whether writing, reading, and improving
their skills in Inuktut, and also providing the
courses that are required to enter into the
degree program for the Bachelor of
Education. (interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Just be cognizant of the
interpreters. Slow down. Slow down.
Member Paul Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Yes, from what we just
heard, we are just trying to be in a losing
situation. Everything runs on money these
days. It’s very important, though. We really
need Inuktitut-speaking teachers and we
really need Inuktitut-speaking nurses. There
are those things because we are in Nunavut
after all and we’re talking about Inuktitut.

When | was first speaking on the matter,
referring to the report, it’s a good report.
However, it’s all English. I'm not criticizing
the English language. | was taught in
English, so | can speak English, but
everything seems to be slated towards the
English language and it seems like the Inuit
language is being set aside again.

It’s probably my last question, Madam
Chairperson. As | stated, we really need Inuit
teachers and it really helps to have Inuit
teachers. My next question will be to the
Department of Education. What is the
department doing? These teachers will be
working for the Department of Education
once they finish their Nunavut Arctic College
schooling. If the Department of Education
wants to have Inuktitut-speaking teachers,
what is the department doing?

It was stated earlier by the Nunavut Arctic
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College representative, my friend from the
college said that everything runs on money
and they always have to chase after the
funding for college foundations
programming. What’s the position of the
Department of Education on that? Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Madam
Chairperson. There are a number of things
that the department does and works in
collaboration with Nunavut Arctic College as
it pertains to the NTEP program. Most
recently in May 2019, as part of the
recruitment for Inuit educators, we had
worked with the college to reach out to our
high school students and provide
information, a video, and collaboration is
continuing in that area and upgrading the
video. That’s one way.

Once we hire Inuit educators, we are in the
process of developing an orientation,
mentorship, and professional development
programs, so supporting our Inuit educators
with professional and ongoing professional
development. Qujannamiik, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you. |
would like to remind Members that our time
is running out and we will want to hear
closing comments from our guests. Mr.
Qirngnug, I’ll allow you to ask two questions
and once you’re done, I’ll go back to John
Main, as he will have questions. Mr.
Qirngnug, I’ll let you go first. Member

Qirngnug.

Mr. Qirngnuq (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson, for recognizing me. My
guestion is on what was just stated by my
colleague regarding page 19, paragraph 76.
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With respect to Arctic College, there’s a
training program offered in 18 communities.
“This program is designed to develop
English and math skills at the 120 level,
along with other skills adult learners need for
entry-level or semi-skilled jobs in Nunavut.”
My question is for the Office of the Auditor
General regarding how they think of
including the Inuktitut language in the
program. | would like to know, hence my
question, Madam Chairperson.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you,
member. Office of the Auditor General, Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. If it is okay, I’'m going to ask
Madam Scott to respond to the question.
Thank you.

Chairperson (interpretation): Okay. Thank
you. Go head, Ms. Scott.

Ms. Scott: Thank you, Madam Chairperson.
I will just answer very briefly because |
know we don’t have a lot of time. We don’t
specifically mention Inuktitut in the chapter
in the report as being offered as a part of
ABE Essential Skills, but I understand that it
is offered. Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. I will
get Mr. Main to ask the next question
because we’ve covered that already, Mr.

Qirngnug.

Mr. Main (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. My last question for the
Auditor General’s office; when you were
doing your work looking at the different
schools, one of the big barriers to high school
students is that they’re hungry. There is a big
amount of people who don’t have enough
food to eat. Especially for teenagers it is very
hard to admit to your friends that you are
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hungry. You don’t want to get out of bed
because you didn’t have a good meal.

I’m just asking for a brief answer. During
your work, audit, did you have any
observations regarding food programs
offered in the schools and the effect on high
school learners? (interpretation) Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
Auditor McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. There were in certain instances,
breakfast programs that were being offered in
schools, and they were seen as being
beneficial to getting at some of the questions
around attendance. It also provided an
opportunity for some students who could
participate in helping deliver that program. It
gave them a bit of outside the classroom type
of experience.

| think, as we noted in our report around the
strategy going forward, food insecurity,
housing, overcrowded housing, are certainly
barriers that youth are facing before they
come to school. Those should certainly be
some of the issues that get included in a
strategy going forward. Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairman (Mr. Main)((interpretation):
Thank you. (interpretation ends) And as you
may have noticed, | just changed seats.
(interpretation) Recognizing the time, we
have to begin wrapping up our meeting.
(interpretation ends) I’ll ask now for some
brief closing comments. First, Office of the
Auditor General, Mr. DeJong.

Mr. DeJong: I'll be quite brief and then pass
it over to Mr. McKenzie. Sincere thank you
for your genuine interest the subject. It is a
lot of work for the team to do work like this
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and it is very rewarding to get the type of
feed-back that we’ve had today.

The danger with a wide scope audit like this
is it can look like a lot of individual
problems, but what I think what we’re
coming to the conclusion is that it is a
system, and if you want to have real
progress, again section 23 of the land claims
Act, you are going to have to graduate more
people. If you want more teachers in your
system that speak the languages of your
community, the only real source of those
teachers is going to be the education system
because it is very unlikely that people
coming from away are going to have those
skills.

Thank you again for the interest. Thank you
for the constructive responses to the audit. |
would ask to hand it over to Jim for his final
words.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Very briefly, when we were meeting with
various people in communities and during
the planning for this audit, one of the things
that people mentioned to us is that the system
is not set up to help students succeed, that it’s
making it difficult for them succeed, whether
it’s high school students, adult learners, and
we have tried in our report to identify some
of the areas that need improvement.

It’s easy to say and include
recommendations, but I just wanted to
emphasize a couple of the things that we
noted. One is that it’s important that all of the
organizations, particularly the three that have
appeared during this hearing, work together,
that this is an issue that needs collaboration
and cooperation, that the use and reporting of
data and information would, in our opinion,
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strengthen both accountability, the notion of
continuous improvement, and also
supporting decision-making that the various
organizations have to make.

| think that there are opportunities and |
mentioned collaboration. | think there are
opportunities that the Department of
Education, for example, there was a
discussion or a comment earlier about career
development officers could maybe go more
frequently to schools or have more consistent
presence in schools. I think that notion of
looking at what other resources are available
within the community is again an opportunity
that the department could benefit from, that
they could leverage on the work of others.

Lastly, I think we saw some promising
initiatives. We have tried to identify some in
our report, and I think the challenge or the
key is that programs, policies, and some of
those promising initiatives be consistently
implemented and that they’re sustained over
time. There are no easy short-term solutions.
It’s not something that’s going to be fixed
overnight, but it will require that consistent
and concerted, sustained effort over time to
overcome some of the barriers that learners
are facing and make the system so that if we
came back in the future, people are saying
the system is helping students and learners
achieve their goals and it’s being successful.

Again, just to thank the Committee for
providing us the opportunity to appear and
also a genuine thank you to the three
organizations that were part of the audit.
They were very open with us. Officials were
very candid in meeting with us and sharing
their observations, so again a thank you to
them as well. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) We will go to the
departments or to the organizations. You
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have about 60 seconds each. We will go to
Education first. Ms. MacMuillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. In closing | want to thank the
Office of the Auditor General for their work
that went into this report. It is an important
tool that the Department of Education will
use as we move in forward with improving
various areas of education in Nunavut. Also
we thank our partners and we will continue
to work and collaborate with you. Also we
thank the Standing Committee and Members
for their important questions, and we will
follow up in writing for some of those items
that were asked. (interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I’ll take this opportunity
to remind all of the organizations that there
were a number of commitments made to
provide additional information, so the
Committee would appreciate receiving those
items at the earliest opportunity.
(interpretation) | hope that was clear. Arctic
College, Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Arctic College very much thanks
the Office of the Auditor General and their
team as well as our colleagues at the
departments of Education and Family
Services, including others. They were very
open and we thank them for that. | would like
to thank our officials who are here, Rebecca,
Jackie, and Andrea, for their assistance. We
would also like to recognize the employees
who work very hard.

We have visited the community learning
centres to make improvements and to
strengthen the programs and that it benefits
all Nunavummiut, especially the staff at
Nunavut Arctic College and all the
employees. Thank you all for your support
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Particularly you as Members of the
Legislative Assembly, | thank you for your
questions and for supporting our departments
and agencies. We’re here to get additional
support in the future. We welcome you all to
go visit Nunavut Arctic College. Thank you
very much, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Family Services, Ms. Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) I echo much
of the same things as my two partners.

To make it short, I would also like to
acknowledge the frontline service providers,
such as our career development officers and
income assistance workers who are there
with our clients every day and identify some
of these issues. | would also like to address
clients if at all possible. In speaking to your
frontline service workers, it is how to inform
the department and the decisions being made,
and it comes back to the Auditor General
spoke of data being important to us. Those
discussions at the frontline are a part of that
data.

Then also | would like to make mention of
the Inuit Child First Initiative. There was a
discussion on hearing within the classrooms.
There is that potential funding available for
individual families to apply for that is
managed through the federal government as
well as NTI. There is an NTI, Nunavut
Tunngavik Incorporated contact.

And then lastly, thank you to my colleague,
Mr. Robert Clift. (interpretation) Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Clift, I’'m not the Speaker, for your
information, right?
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>>[ aughter

We thank the Office of the Auditor General
and invited guests on behalf of the
Committee for answering our questions.
Thank you. We will expect the Office of the
Auditor General providing another report
next year. The reports and findings are very
helpful to us as Members of the Legislative
Assembly and some innovative ways on how
we can improve the services to the people of
Nunavut.

The meeting is adjourned. Have a good
evening.

>>Committee adjourned at 16:59
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